

UvA-DARE (Digital Academic Repository)

Combinatorics of Bousquet-Mélou–Schaeffer numbers in the light of topological recursion

Bychkov, B.; Dunin-Barkowski, P.; Shadrin, S.

DOI 10.1016/j.ejc.2020.103184

Publication date 2020 Document Version Submitted manuscript

Published in European Journal of Combinatorics

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Bychkov, B., Dunin-Barkowski, P., & Shadrin, S. (2020). Combinatorics of Bousquet-Mélou–Schaeffer numbers in the light of topological recursion. *European Journal of Combinatorics*, *90*, [103184]. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejc.2020.103184

General rights

It is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), other than for strictly personal, individual use, unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

Disclaimer/Complaints regulations

If you believe that digital publication of certain material infringes any of your rights or (privacy) interests, please let the Library know, stating your reasons. In case of a legitimate complaint, the Library will make the material inaccessible and/or remove it from the website. Please Ask the Library: https://uba.uva.nl/en/contact, or a letter to: Library of the University of Amsterdam, Secretariat, Singel 425, 1012 WP Amsterdam, The Netherlands. You will be contacted as soon as possible.

UvA-DARE is a service provided by the library of the University of Amsterdam (https://dare.uva.nl)

COMBINATORICS OF BOUSQUET-MÉLOU–SCHAEFFER NUMBERS IN THE LIGHT OF TOPOLOGICAL RECURSION

B. BYCHKOV, P. DUNIN-BARKOWSKI, AND S. SHADRIN

ABSTRACT. In this paper we prove, in a purely combinatorial way, a structural quasipolynomiality property for the Bousquet-Mélou–Schaeffer numbers. Conjecturally, this property should follow from the Chekhov-Eynard-Orantin topological recursion for these numbers (or, to be more precise, the Bouchard-Eynard version of the topological recursion for higher order critical points), which we derive in this paper from the recent result of Alexandrov-Chapuy-Eynard-Harnad. To this end, the missing ingredient is a generalization to the case of higher order critical points on the underlying spectral curve of the existing correspondence between the topological recursion and Giventals theory for cohomological field theories.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
1.1. Bousquet-Mélou–Schaeffer numbers	2
1.2. Combinatorial interpretations and connection to integrable systems	2
1.3. Topological recursion	3
1.4. Combinatorial structure of the BMS numbers	4
1.5. Organization of the paper	5
1.6. Acknowledgments	5
2. Topological recursion for the BMS numbers	6
2.1. General statement	6
2.2. Unstable cases	8
3. Functions on the spectral curve	9
4. Semi-infinite wedge formalism	11
4.1. Basic definitions	11
4.2. The BMS numbers	13
5. The \mathcal{A} -operators	13
5.1. Quasi-rationality of the \mathcal{A} -operators	13
5.1.1. The \mathcal{A} -operator via the difference operator	14
5.1.2. The difference operator and the P - and R -polynomials	15
5.1.3. The quasi-rationality statements	16
5.1.4. Further technical statements	19
5.2. The $\mathring{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}$ -operators	22
5.2.1. Definition of $\check{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}$	23
5.2.2. Technical statements about the P - and R -polynomials	23
5.2.3. The \mathcal{A} -operators and their residues	24
6. Quasi-polynomiality of the BMS numbers	26
Appendix A. Around Faulhaber's formula	30
References	32

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. **Bousquet-Mélou–Schaeffer numbers.** Bousquet-Mélou–Schaeffer numbers [7] (we call them the BMS numbers for brevity) can be considered as a special kind of Hurwitz numbers: they enumerate decompositions of a permutation of given cyclic type into a product of a given number of permutations of arbitrary cyclic types with a fixed total number of cycles in these permutations.

Throughout the paper we fix $m \ge 1$.

Definition 1.1. For $L \ge m$ and an integer partition μ we define

(1)
$$b_{\mu}^{\bullet,L} = \frac{|\operatorname{Aut}(\mu)|}{|\mu|!} \left| \left\{ (\tau_1, \dots, \tau_m) \left| \tau_i \in S_{|\mu|}; \tau_1 \circ \dots \circ \tau_m \in C_{\mu}; \sum_{i=1}^m \ell(\tau_i) = L \right\} \right|.$$

Here $C_{\mu} = C_{\mu}(S_{|\mu|})$ is the conjugacy class of the permutations with the cyclic type given by μ , $\ell(\tau_i)$ denotes the number of cycles of the permutation $\tau_i \in S_{|\mu|}$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$, and $|\operatorname{Aut}(\mu)|$ denotes the order of the automorphism group of the set of parts of μ .

We define connected BMS numbers by the same formula, but with an additional requirement that the subgroup in $S_{|\mu|}$ generated by the tuple τ_1, \ldots, τ_m acts on the set $\{1, \ldots, |\mu|\}$ transitively. Connected BMS numbers can also be defined as quantities of the isomorphism classes of ramified coverings of $\mathbb{C}P^1$ by Riemann surfaces of genus $g \ge 0$, with the ramification profile μ over $\infty \in \mathbb{C}P^1$ and ramification profiles τ_1, \ldots, τ_m over mfixed finite points on $\mathbb{C}P^1$, which we chose to be $e^{2\pi i \cdot j/m}$, $j = 1, \ldots, m$. In this case, the genus g is related to the number L and the parts μ_1, \ldots, μ_n , $n = \ell(\mu)$ of the partition μ via the Riemann-Hurwitz formula:

(2)
$$2g = 2 + (m-1)|\mu| - n - L.$$

It is more natural for us to parametrize connected BMS number by genus g rather than the number L:

Notation 1. We denote connected BMS numbers of genus g by $b_{a,u}^{\circ}$.

Bousquet-Mélou and Schaeffer obtained in [7] a closed formula for the connected BMS numbers of genus 0:

(3)
$$b_{0,\mu}^{\circ} = m \cdot \left((m-1)|\mu| - 1 \right)_{n-3} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{n} \binom{m\mu_{i} - 1}{\mu_{i}};$$

where we use the standard notation $(a)_b$ for the Pochhammer symbol, that is

(4)
$$(a)_b \coloneqq \begin{cases} a(a-1)\cdots(a-b+1) & b > 0; \\ 1/(a+1)\cdots(a-b) & b < 0; \\ 1 & b = 0. \end{cases}$$

In particular, for n > 3 we have

(5)
$$((m-1)|\mu|-1)_{n-3} = ((m-1)|\mu|-1)((m-1)|\mu|-2)\dots((m-1)|\mu|-n+3).$$

1.2. Combinatorial interpretations and connection to integrable systems. The BMS numbers are interesting by themselves, and this type of enumeration problems is nowadays classical in combinatorics, see e. g. [31], going back to the paper of Hurwitz [24] (and the formula (3) is a generalization of a theorem of Hurwitz). But there is an extra motivation to study the BMS numbers that comes from a rich system of connections that they have with other areas of combinatorics and with integrable systems.

Connections in combinatorics include an interpretation of the BMS numbers as enumeration of constellations, in the terminology of A. Zvonkin. These constellations are basically the pictures that one can obtain through lifting the unit circle on $\mathbb{C}P^1$ considered as an *m*-gon with vertices $e^{2\pi i \cdot j/m}$, $j = 1, \ldots, m$, labeled in the cyclic order, with the interior (resp., exterior) of the unit disk colored by black (resp., white) color. The enumeration of constellations was a part of the original motivation of Bousquet-Mélou–Schaeffer, and it is a very active area of research, see e. g. [35] for some recent results. There is also an interpretation of the BMS numbers in terms of the so-called Hurwitz numbers with *m* strictly monotone blocks, which is a special case of more general Harnad-Orlov correspondence [23] (see also [2] for an exposition).

A connection with integrable systems is established via identification of a generating function of the BMS numbers with a particular tau-function of the KP hierarchy from the Orlov-Scherbin (hypergeometric) family [38, 18, 21, 23], see also surveys in [27, 2, 22]. Namely, let $\mathbf{cr}^{\lambda} = (\mathbf{cr}_{1}^{\lambda}, \dots, \mathbf{cr}_{|\lambda|}^{\lambda})$ denote the vector of contents of the standard Young tableau of a partition λ . The following KP tau-function belongs to the Orlov-Scherbin family

(6)
$$Z \coloneqq \sum_{\lambda} \frac{\dim \lambda}{|\lambda|!} \prod_{i=1}^{|\lambda|} (1 + \hbar \mathsf{cr}_i^{\lambda})^m s_{\lambda}(p_1, p_2, \ldots)$$

(it is more convenient for us to use a rescaling of the standard KP variables $p_i = it_i$, i = 1, 2, ...,) and gives an exponential generating function for the BMS numbers, that is,

(7)
$$\log Z = \sum_{g=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mu} \frac{\hbar^{2g-2+\ell(\mu)+|\mu|}}{|\operatorname{Aut}(\mu)|} b_{g,\mu}^{\circ} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell(\mu)} p_{\mu_i}.$$

1.3. **Topological recursion.** Topological recursion of Chekhov, Eynard, and Orantin [17, 14, 15, 34] is a universal and a very powerful way to look at various enumerative problems in combinatorics and enumerative geometry, as, for instance, Hurwitz theory and Gromov-Witten theory, and it is the base for the remodelling of the B-model principle proposed in [6].

The *n*-point generating differentials of the BMS numbers satisfy the topological recursion in the Bouchard-Eynard formulation [4]. It is a straightforward corollary of a more general result of Alexandrov, Chapuy, Eynard, and Harnad [1], and for m = 2 it was proved by Kazarian and Zograf in [28]. Let us explain this statement in detail.

Let z be a global coordinate on $\mathbb{C}P^1$ and consider the following function x of z:

(8)
$$x := \frac{(1+z)^m}{z}$$

Our goal is to construct recursively a set of symmetric differentials $\omega_{g,n}(z_1, \ldots, z_n), g \ge 0$, $n \ge 1$, with the initial conditions

(9)
$$\omega_{0,1}(z_1) \coloneqq -\frac{z_1^2}{(1+z_1)^m} dx(z_1)$$
 and $\omega_{0,2}(z_1,z_2) \coloneqq \frac{dz_1 dz_2}{(z_1-z_2)^2}.$

Note that $x: \mathbb{C}P^1 \to \mathbb{C}P^1$, $z \mapsto x(z)$, is a covering of degree m. Let C denote the preimage of the positively oriented circle $|x| = R \gg 0$, where R is chosen to be big enough so that the disk |x| < R contains all critical values of x. The contour C consists of two connected components that cover the circle |x| = R with degrees 1 and m - 1 respectively, and it is oriented as the boundary of x-preimage of the disk |x| < R. For a point $\zeta \in C$ we denote by $\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \ldots, \zeta_m$ the points in $x^{-1}(x(\zeta))$ with $\zeta_1 = \zeta$.

The topological recursion reads:

(10)
$$\omega_{g,n+1}(z_{[n]}, z_{n+1}) := \frac{-1}{2\pi i} \oint_{C} \sum_{1 \subseteq I \subset [m]} \frac{\int_{i \in I}^{\zeta_{1}} \omega_{0,2}(\cdot, z_{n+1})}{\prod_{i \in I} (\omega_{0,1}(\zeta_{i}) - \omega_{0,1}(\zeta_{1}))} \sum_{\substack{J \vdash I \cup \{1\}\\ \cup_{i=1}^{\ell(J)} N_{i} = [n]\\ \sum_{i=1}^{\ell(J)} g_{i} = g + \ell(J) - |I| - 1}} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell(J)} \omega_{g_{i},|J_{i}| + |N_{i}|} (\zeta_{J_{i}}, z_{N_{i}}),$$

where o is an arbitrary base point, in the second sum we forbid the choices where we have $(g_i, |J_i| + |N_i|) = (0, 1)$, by [m] (resp., [n]) we denote the set $\{1, \ldots, m\}$ (resp., $\{1, \ldots, n\}$), and the notation of the form ζ_J means all variables $\zeta_i, i \in J$. Though it might not be obvious at the first glance, the right hand side of equation (10) does not depend on the choice of the point o and on the way we label ζ_2, \ldots, ζ_m , and it is a symmetric function of z_1, \ldots, z_{n+1} .

The claim is that thus defined differentials $\omega_{g,n}$ are related to the BMS numbers via their expansion in the coordinate X = 1/x near $x = \infty$:

(11)
$$\omega_{g,n}(z_{[n]}) - \delta_{g,0}\delta_{n,2}\frac{dX_1dX_2}{(X_1 - X_2)^2} = \sum_{\mu_1,\dots,\mu_n=1}^{\infty} b_{g,\mu}^{\circ} \prod_{i=1}^n dX_i^{\mu_i},$$

where $X_i = 1/x(z_i), i = 1, ..., n$.

We prove that the BMS numbers can be reproduced via equations (8)-(11) (for a physicist it would mean that the spectral curve $x^2y = (1 + xy)^m$, $y = \omega_{0,1}/dx$, provides the correct B-model for the BMS numbers); though, as we have already mentioned above, it is merely a small addendum to the argument of Alexandrov-Chapuy-Eynard-Harnad in [1], where they had to exclude the case of the BMS numbers mostly for the clarity of exposition. It is a very powerful statement that says a lot about the combinatorial structure of the BMS numbers (though the necessary piece of theory is not fully developed yet, see remarks 2.2-2.4 below), and it serves for us as a motivation and an inspiration to analyze the corresponding combinatorial structure of the BMS numbers independently in purely combinatorial terms.

1.4. Combinatorial structure of the BMS numbers. The fact that the BMS numbers satisfy the topological recursion suggests a very special combinatorial structure for them. Namely, it should impose that for 2g - 2 + n > 0, $n = \ell(\mu)$, the expression

(12)
$$b_{g,\mu}^{\circ} \cdot \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \prod_{\substack{m \le j_i \le 4g - 4 + 2n - 1 \\ m \nmid j_i}} \left(\mu_i - \frac{j_i}{m} \right)}{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(m\mu_i - m)!}{\mu_i! (m\mu_i - \mu_i - 1)!}}$$

is given by a polynomial $\operatorname{Poly}_{g,n}(\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_n)$. It is an absolutely remarkable property that can equivalently be formulated as a way to express the *n*-point generating functions for the BMS numbers given by $\sum_{\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_n=1}^{\infty} b_{g,\mu}^{\circ} X_1^{\mu_1} \cdots X_n^{\mu_n}$ as finite linear combinations of the products of some explicitly given rational functions in z_1,\ldots,z_n , where $X_i = z_i/(1+z_i)^m$, $i = 1,\ldots,n$.

A natural question that immediately arises is whether one can prove such a remarkable property of the BMS numbers in a purely combinatorial way. Besides purely combinatorial motivation to do this, it is also a way to manifestly see the B-model side within the remodeling of the B-model philosophy as an emergent phenomenon, that is, the spectral curve defined by the function x = x(z) (or rather the multi-valued function z = z(x)) emerges as a natural Riemann surface prescribed by the analytic behavior of the *n*-point generating functions of the underlying enumerative problem in all genera.

This is precisely the goal of this paper: our main result is the proof of Theorem 6.1, a purely combinatorial proof of the polynomiality of (12) in μ_1, \ldots, μ_n (for every $g \ge 0$ such that 2g - 2 + n > 0).

One can compare this with the analogous property of the usual connected Hurwitz numbers $h_{q,\mu}$. In that case, the polynomiality of the expressions

(13)
$$h_{g,\mu} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\mu_i!}{\mu_i^{\mu_i}}$$

for 2g-2+n > 0 was conjectured by Goulden-Jackson-Vainshtein in [19]. It was proved by Ekedahl-Lando-Shapiro-Vainshtein in [13] using the ELSV formula that expresses Hurwitz numbers in terms of the intersection numbers on $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}$. An equivalent reformulation is that $\sum_{\mu_1,\dots,\mu_n=1}^{\infty} h_{g,\mu} X_1^{\mu_1} \cdots X_n^{\mu_n}$ can be expressed as a finite linear combination of products of certain explicitly given rational functions in z_1,\dots,z_n , where $X_i = z_i e^{-z_i}$, $i = 1,\dots,n$, was then derived as an intermediate step towards a more refined result by Goulden-Jackson-Vakil in [20].

The following question, however, remained open: is there any purely combinatorial way to see the polynomiality of (13) that would use the combinatorial definition of Hurwitz numbers in terms of the characters of the symmetric group? It took about 15 years before a purely combinatorial proof that wouldn't use the ELSV formula has appeared in [30] (see also [8] for an earlier proof of the polynomiality of (13) which is not entirely combinatorial but is also independent of the ELSV formula).

Remark 1.2. The present paper follows the line of papers [30, 29, 12] (and, to a lesser extent, [8, 9]) where similar quasi-polynomiality properties were proved for other types of objects. Some general ideas are shared among these papers (including the present one), but the underlying combinatorics and the required proofs of the corresponding statements always turned out to be new and exciting.

1.5. **Organization of the paper.** In Section 2 we show how to complete the argument of Alexandrov-Chapuy-Eynard-Harnad in order to prove the topological recursion for the BMS numbers, and explain what the topological recursion statement should imply for the combinatorics of the BMS numbers (modulo certain piece of theory that is missing in the literature as of now).

In Section 3 we study the so-called ξ -functions on the particular spectral curve corresponding to the BMS numbers. These ξ -functions are an important ingredient of the topological recursion theory and their structure provides the motivation for looking into the quasi-polynomiality structure of the BMS numbers.

In Section 4 we briefly recall the main facts from the semi-infinite wedge space (a.k.a. free-fermion) theory which are needed in the rest of the paper.

In Section 5 we introduce the \mathcal{A} -operators which allow to express the BMS numbers in terms of the semi-infinite wedge space correlators in a convenient way. We then study the properties of these \mathcal{A} -operators.

In Section 6, building upon the results of the preceding section, we prove the main theorem of the present paper which states the quasi-polynomiality of the BMS numbers.

Appendix A is devoted to proving certain facts revolving around the classical Faulhaber's formula which are used in Section 5.

1.6. Acknowledgments. B. B. and P. D.-B. thank Yu. Burman, M. Kazarian, and S. Lando for useful discussions and also would like to acknowledge the warm hospitality

of Korteweg-de Vries Institute for Mathematics. S. S. thanks A. Alexandrov, R. Kramer, and D. Lewanski for useful discussions. The research of B. B. and P. D.-B. was supported by the Russian Science Foundation (project 16-11-10316).

2. Topological recursion for the BMS numbers

In this section we prove the main statement announced in Section 1.3 of the introduction. Namely, we prove that the differential forms defined by equations (8)-(10) produce the BMS numbers via the expansion given by equation (11). In order to make this statement a bit more precise, observe that $X(z) = 1/x(z) = z/(1+z)^m$ can serve as a local coordinate in a neighborhood of z = 0.

2.1. General statement.

Proposition 2.1. For the differential forms $\omega_{q,n}$ defined via equations (8)-(10) we have:

(14)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{X_1=0}\cdots\operatorname{Res}_{X_n=0}\frac{\omega_{g,n}(z_{[n]}) - \delta_{g,0}\delta_{n,2}\frac{dX_1dX_2}{(X_1-X_2)^2}}{\prod_{i=1}^n \mu_i X_i^{\mu_i}} = b_{g,\mu}^{\circ},$$

where $\mu = (\mu_1, ..., \mu_n)$.

Proof. Let us recall the main result of Alexandrov-Chapuy-Eynard-Harnad [1, Theorem 1.1] reformulated in an equivalent form in the spirit of [4] with the help of [4, Theorem 5].

Let $\epsilon = (\epsilon_1, \ldots, \epsilon_m) \in \mathbb{C}^m$. It is convenient to assume that each ϵ_i belongs to a small open disk of radius $\rho \ll 1$ with the center at 1, that is, $\epsilon \in U \subset \mathbb{C}^m$, where $U = \{(\epsilon_1, \ldots, \epsilon_m) \in \mathbb{C}^m \mid |\epsilon_i - 1| < \rho\}$.

Let z be a global coordinate on $\mathbb{C}P^1$ and consider a function x_{ϵ} of z that also depends on ϵ defined as

(15)
$$x(z;\epsilon) = \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{m} (1+\epsilon_i z)}{z}$$

Note that $x(\cdot; \epsilon) \colon \mathbb{C}P^1 \to \mathbb{C}P^1$, $z \mapsto x(z; \epsilon)$, is a covering of degree m, and it is also a superpotential of a certain Frobenius manifold as discussed in detail in [10, Section 8]. Let C denote the preimage of the positively oriented circle $|x| = R \gg 0$, where R is chosen to be big enough so that the disk |x| < R contains all critical values of x. The contour C consists of two connected components that cover the circle |x| = R with degrees 1 and m - 1 respectively, and it is oriented as the boundary of $x(\cdot; \epsilon)$ -preimage of the disk |x| < R. For a point $\zeta \in C$ we denote by $\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \ldots, \zeta_m$ the points in $x(\cdot; \epsilon)^{-1}(x(\zeta; \epsilon))$ with $\zeta_1 = \zeta$.

We construct recursively a set of symmetric differentials $\omega_{g,n}(z_1, \ldots, z_n; \epsilon), g \ge 0, n \ge 1$, with the initial conditions

(16)
$$\omega_{0,1}(z_1;\epsilon) \coloneqq -\frac{z_1^2}{\prod_{i=1}^m (1+\epsilon_i z)} dx(z_1) \quad \text{and} \quad \omega_{0,2}(z_1, z_2;\epsilon) \coloneqq \frac{dz_1 dz_2}{(z_1 - z_2)^2},$$

using the following recursion:

(17)
$$\omega_{g,n+1}(z_{[n]}, z_{n+1}; \epsilon) := \frac{-1}{2\pi i} \oint_{C} \sum_{1 \subseteq I \subset [m]} \frac{\int_{i \in I}^{\zeta_{1}} \omega_{0,2}(\cdot, z_{n+1})}{\prod_{i \in I} (\omega_{0,1}(\zeta_{i}) - \omega_{0,1}(\zeta_{1}))} \sum_{\substack{J \vdash I \cup \{1\}\\ \cup_{i=1}^{\ell(J)} N_{i} = [n]\\ \sum_{i=1}^{\ell(J)} g_{i} = g + \ell(J) - |I| - 1}} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell(J)} \omega_{g_{i},|J_{i}| + |N_{i}|} (\zeta_{J_{i}}, z_{N_{i}}; \epsilon),$$

Then [1, Theorem 1.1] implies that outside the discriminant of $x(\cdot, \epsilon)$ in U (they had to exclude the discriminant for technical reasons)

(18)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{X_1=0}\cdots\operatorname{Res}_{X_n=0}\frac{\omega_{g,n}(z_{[n]};\epsilon) - \delta_{g,0}\delta_{n,2}\frac{dX_1dX_2}{(X_1-X_2)^2}}{\prod_{i=1}^n \mu_i X_i^{\mu_i}} = b_{g,\mu}^{\circ}(\epsilon),$$

where $\mu = (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n)$ and $b^{\circ}_{q,\mu}(\epsilon)$ are defined through the expansion of the logarithm of the following Orlov-Scherbin tau-function

(19)
$$Z(\epsilon) \coloneqq \sum_{\lambda} \frac{\dim \lambda}{|\lambda|!} \prod_{i=1}^{|\lambda|} \prod_{j=1}^{m} (1 + \hbar \epsilon_j \operatorname{cr}_i^{\lambda}) s_{\lambda}(p_1, p_2, \ldots)$$

as

(20)
$$\log Z(\epsilon) = \sum_{g=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mu} \frac{\hbar^{2g-2+\ell(\mu)+|\mu|}}{|\operatorname{Aut}(\mu)|} b_{g,\mu}^{\circ}(\epsilon) \prod_{i=1}^{\ell(\mu)} p_{\mu_i}.$$

Note that the point $\epsilon = (1, \ldots, 1)$ does belong to the discriminant, so the statement of [1, Theorem 1.1] doesn't work directly in this case. However, we intentionally reformulated that theorem in a way where it is absolutely manifest from the construction and equations (15)-(17) that both the left hand side and the right hand side of equation (18)depend analytically on $\epsilon \in U$. Thus statement (18) can be extended to the discriminant, and the analyticity implies the continuity of the values, that is,

(21)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{X_1=0} \cdots \operatorname{Res}_{X_n=0} \frac{\omega_{g,n}(z_{[n]}; (1, \dots, 1)) - \delta_{g,0} \delta_{n,2} \frac{dX_1 dX_2}{(X_1 - X_2)^2}}{\prod_{i=1}^n \mu_i X_i^{\mu_i}} = b_{g,\mu}^{\circ}(1, \dots, 1) = b_{g,\mu}^{\circ},$$
which proves equation (14).

which proves equation (14).

Remark 2.2. Proposition 2.1 and a proper generalization of the results of [16, 11] (see also the expositions in [10, 33, 32]) would imply that the BMS numbers can be expressed in terms of the intersection numbers of a cohomological field theory with a non-flat unit. This cohomological field theory is not particularly nice, though it is remotely related to the one discussed in [10, Section 8]. It can be represented as a particular element of the Givental group action applied to the direct sum of the rescaled Witten m-spin class and a trivial TFT, with deformed dilaton leaves. The corresponding ELSV-type formula for $b_{g,\mu}^{\circ}$ would look like a polynomial in μ_1, \ldots, μ_n with an explicit non-polynomial factor.

Remark 2.3. Equivalently, Proposition 2.1 and a proper generalization of the results of [16,11] (see also the necessary local analysis near a branching point of higher order in [10, Section 7], [37], and [5]) would imply that for 2g - 2 + n > 0 the formal *n*-point functions $\sum_{\mu_1,\dots,\mu_n=1}^{\infty} h_{g,\mu} X_1^{\mu_1} \cdots X_n^{\mu_n}$ are the Taylor series expansions near $X_1 = \cdots = X_n = 0$ of a finite linear combination of the products of the derivatives of certain globally defined ξ -functions that we introduce in the next section.

Remark 2.4. The necessary piece of theory to deal with ELSV-type formulas and topological recursion / cohomological field theory correspondence at the discriminant (which we need to make the statements of the Remarks 2.2 and 2.3 more explicit and to prove them) doesn't exist in the literature at the moment. However, we expect that it should be rather straightforward to prove the appropriate generalizations of the statements of [16, 11], and some important papers in this direction include [25, 3].

These remarks indicate a missing piece of theory that, once completed, would imply severe restrictions on the possible dependence of $b_{g,\mu}^{\circ}$ on the parameters $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n, n =$ $\ell(\mu)$. Namely, these remarks imply the polynomiality of (12). In the rest of the paper we prove this polynomiality independently, via purely combinatorial methods, and explain explicitly why it is equivalent to the statement of Remark 2.3 (see Corollary 6.2).

2.2. Unstable cases. Let us also, for completeness, derive equation (11) for the unstable cases $(g, n) \in \{(0, 1), (0, 2)\}$ directly.

From the explicit formula for the genus 0 BMS-numbers from [7] (formula (3)), or equivalently from formula (60) we get:

(22)
$$b_{0,k_1}^{\circ} = \frac{m(mk_1 - 1)!}{k_1!(mk_1 - k_1 + 1)!}$$

(23)
$$b_{0,k_1k_2}^{\circ} = \frac{m}{m(k_1+k_2)-k_1-k_2} \binom{mk_1-1}{k_1} \binom{mk_2-1}{k_2}$$

Proposition 2.5. The expansion of $\omega_{0,1}$ is given by:

(24)
$$-\frac{z_1^2}{(1+z_1)^m}dx_1 = d\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}b_{0,\mu_1}^{\circ}X_1^{\mu_1}$$

Proof. We have:

(25)
$$-\frac{z^2}{(1+z)^m}dx = \frac{z}{X}dX$$

Note that (26)

$$[X^{k}]z = \oint \frac{z}{X^{k+1}} dX = \oint \frac{(1+z)^{mk+m}}{z^{k}} \frac{1+z-mz}{(1+z)^{m+1}} dz = \oint \frac{(1+z)^{mk-1}(1+z-mz)}{z^{k}} dz$$
$$= \binom{mk}{k-1} - m\binom{mk-1}{k-2} = \frac{m(mk-1)!}{(k-1)!(mk-k+1)!}.$$

Therefore, the X expansion of $\omega_{0,1}$ is given by:

(27)
$$\omega_{0,1} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k b_{0,k}^{\circ} X^{k-1} dX = d \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} b_{0,k}^{\circ} X^{k}.$$

Proposition 2.6. The expansion of $\omega_{0,2}$ with the subtracted singularity at the diagonal is given by:

(28)
$$\frac{dz_1dz_2}{(z_1-z_2)^2} - \frac{dX_1dX_2}{(X_1-X_2)^2} = d_1d_2\sum_{\mu_1,\mu_2=1}^{\infty} b_{0,\mu_1,\mu_2}^{\circ}X_1^{\mu_1}X_2^{\mu_2}.$$

Proof. Let us denote $z_i = z(X_i), i = 1, 2$. It is sufficient to prove that

(29)
$$\log(z_1 - z_2) = \log(X_1 - X_2) + C(X_1) + C(X_2) + \sum_{k_1, k_2 \ge 0} b_{0, k_1^1 k_2^1}^{\circ} X^{k_1} X^{k_2}.$$

Let us apply the Euler operator $E := X_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial X_1} + X_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial X_2}$ to the both sides of (29). Recall that

(30)
$$X(z) = \frac{z}{(1+z)^m}$$
 and $\frac{d}{dX} = \frac{(1+z)^{m+1}}{1+z-mz}\frac{d}{dz}$

We have:

$$(31) \quad E \log(z_1 - z_2) = \frac{z_1}{(1+z_1)^m} \frac{(1+z_1)^{m+1}}{1+z_1 - mz_1} \frac{1}{z_1 - z_2} - \frac{z_2}{(1+z_2)^m} \frac{(1+z_2)^{m+1}}{1+z_2 - mz_2} \frac{1}{z_1 - z_2}$$
$$= \frac{(z_1 + z_1^2)(1+z_2 - mz_2) - (z_2 + z_2^2)(1+z_1 - mz_1)}{(z_1 - z_2)(1+z_1 - mz_1)(1+z_2 - mz_2)}$$
$$= \frac{(1+z_1)(1+z_2) - mz_1z_2}{(1+z_1 - mz_1)(1+z_2 - mz_2)}.$$

Now we compute the coefficient $[X_1^{k_1}X_2^{k_2}]E\log(z_1-z_2)$ as a residue:

$$(32) \qquad [X_1^{n_1} X_2^{n_2}] E \log(z_1 - z_2) \\ = \oint \int \frac{(1+z_1)(1+z_2) - mz_1 z_2}{(1+z_1 - mz_1)(1+z_2 - mz_2)} \frac{(1+z_1)^{m(k_1+1)}(1+z_2)^{m(k_2+1)}}{z_1^{k_1+1} z_2^{k_2+1}} \\ \times \frac{(1+z_1 - mz_1)(1+z_2 - mz_2)}{(1+z_1)^{m+1}(1+z_2)^{m+1}} dz_1 dz_2 \\ = \oint \int \frac{((1+z_1)(1+z_2) - mz_1 z_2)(1+z_1)^{mk_1-1}(1+z_2)^{mk_2-1}}{z_1^{k_1+1} z_2^{k_2+1}} dz_1 dz_2 \\ = \left(\frac{mk_1}{k_1} \right) \binom{mk_2}{k_2} - m\binom{mk_1 - 1}{k_1 - 1} \binom{mk_2 - 1}{k_2 - 1} \\ W_2 \text{ also have} \end{cases}$$

We also have

(33)
$$[X_1^{k_1} X_2^{k_2}] E \sum_{k_1, k_2 \ge 0} b_{0, k_1^1 k_2^1}^{\circ} X^{k_1} X^{k_2} = (k_1 + k_2) b_{0, k_1^1 k_2^1}^{\circ}$$

From (32) and (33), taking into account (23), we immediately see that equation (29) holds. $\hfill \Box$

3. Functions on the spectral curve

Recall that the spectral curve is defined as the source curve of the covering $x \colon \mathbb{C}P^1 \to \mathbb{C}P^1$, $z \mapsto x(z)$, where

$$(34) x = \frac{(1+z)^m}{z},$$

and we are interested in the expansions of functions on the curve in the variable

(35)
$$X = \frac{1}{x} = \frac{z}{(1+z)^m}.$$

We define the ξ -functions on the curve by explicit formulas:

(36)
$$\xi_i := \frac{z^i}{(1+z)^{m-1} \left(-1 + (m-1)z\right)}, \qquad i = 0 \dots m - 1.$$

Let D denote the operator $\frac{d}{dx}$. Consider the space of functions on the curve spanned by ξ -functions and their x-derivatives up to the order $d \ge 0$:

(37)
$$\Xi^{d} := \left\langle \xi_{0}, \dots, \xi_{m-1}, D\xi_{0}, \dots, D\xi_{m-1}, \dots, D^{d}\xi_{0}, \dots, D^{d}\xi_{m-1} \right\rangle.$$

We want to characterize the possible series expansions of functions from Ξ^d in the variable X at $X \to 0$. To this end, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 3.1. Let P(k) be an arbitrary polynomial in k of degree $\leq m(d+1) - 1$. Then there exists a unique function $\xi \in \Xi^d$ such that for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$

(38)
$$[X^{k}]\xi = \frac{(mk-m)!}{k! (mk-k-1)!} \frac{P(k)}{\prod_{\substack{m < j < m(d+1) \\ m \nmid j}} \left(k - \frac{j}{m}\right)}$$

Here $[X^k]\xi$ denotes the coefficient of X^k in the series expansion of ξ in the variable X at $X \to 0$.

Proof. First of all, let us find the series expansion of ξ_i . Note that

(39)
$$\xi_i = \frac{z^{i-2}}{dx/dz} = \frac{z^{-2}}{i+1} \frac{d}{dx} z^{i+1} \qquad i = 0 \dots m-1$$

We have:

(40)
$$[X^{k}]\xi_{i} = \oint X^{-k-1}\xi_{i}dX = -\oint x^{k-1}\frac{z^{-2}}{i+1}\frac{d}{dx}z^{i+1}dx = -\oint z^{i-2}\frac{(1+z)^{m(k-1)}}{z^{k-1}}dz = \binom{mk-m}{k-i}.$$

We prove the existence part of the proposition by induction (we will address the uniqueness part separately). From (40) it is easy to see that the base of induction holds, i. e. that the existence statement is true for d = 0.

Let us prove the induction step. Apply operator $D = -X^2 \frac{d}{dX}$ to a series ξ of the form (38), where P(k) is an arbitrary polynomial of degree $\deg(P) \leq m(d+1) - 1$. We have:

(41)
$$[X^k]D\xi = -(k-1)\frac{(mk-2m)!}{(k-1)!(mk-m-k)!} \frac{P(k-1)}{\prod_{\substack{m < j < m(d+1)\\m \nmid j}} \left(k-1-\frac{j}{m}\right)}$$

$$= -\frac{(mk-m)!}{k! (mk-k-1)!} \frac{P(k-1) k (mk-k-1)(mk-k-2)\cdots(mk-k-m+1)}{m^m \prod_{m < i < 2m} \left(k - \frac{i}{m}\right) \prod_{m < j < m(d+1)} \left(k - \frac{m+j}{m}\right)} \left(k - \frac{m+j}{m}\right)}{\frac{P(k-1) k (m-1)^{m-1} \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \left(k - \frac{i}{m-1}\right)}{m^m \prod_{m < j < m(d+2)} \left(k - \frac{j}{m}\right)}}.$$

Recall that $\Xi^{d+1} = \Xi^d + D\Xi^d$. Consider two functions $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \Xi^d$. From the induction hypothesis we have:

(42)
$$[X^{k}]\xi_{1} = \frac{(mk-m)!}{k! (mk-k-1)!} \frac{P_{1}(k)}{\prod_{\substack{m < j < m(d+1) \\ m \nmid j}} \left(k - \frac{j}{m}\right)},$$

(43)
$$[X^{k}]\xi_{2} = \frac{(mk-m)!}{k! (mk-k-1)!} \frac{P_{2}(k)}{\prod_{\substack{m < j < m(d+1) \\ m \nmid j}} \left(k - \frac{j}{m}\right)},$$

where $P_1(k)$ and $P_2(k)$ can be any polynomials in k of degree $\leq m(d+1)-1$. Equation (41) implies that

(44)
$$[X^k](\xi_1 + D\xi_2) = \frac{(mk - m)!}{k! (mk - k - 1)!} \frac{Q(k)}{\prod_{\substack{m < j < m(d+2) \\ m \nmid j}} \left(k - \frac{j}{m}\right)},$$

where

(45)
$$Q(k) = P_1(k) \cdot \prod_{i=(d+1)m+1}^{(d+2)m-1} \left(k - \frac{i}{m}\right) + P_2(k-1) \cdot \left(-m^{-m}(m-1)^{m-1}\right) \prod_{i=0}^{m-1} \left(k - \frac{i}{m-1}\right).$$

Since $\prod_{i=(d+1)m+1}^{(d+2)m-1} \left(k - \frac{i}{m}\right)$ and $\prod_{i=0}^{m-1} \left(k - \frac{i}{m-1}\right)$ are coprime polynomials of degrees m-1and m respectively, we can choose polynomials P_1 and P_2 of degree $\leq m(d+1) - 1$ to represent via equation (45) any polynomial Q of degree $\leq m(d+2) - 1$. This proves the induction step and thus the existence part of the proposition.

In order to prove the uniqueness claim of the proposition, it is sufficient to observe that dim $\Xi^d = m(d+1)$ is equal to the dimension of the space of polynomials in k of degree $\leq m(d+1) - 1$. This completes the proof of the proposition.

4. Semi-infinite wedge formalism

In this section we briefly recall the notion of semi-infinite wedge formalism; it is nowadays a standard tool in Hurwitz theory. For a more complete introduction see e.g. [26].

4.1. Basic definitions.

Definition 4.1. The Lie algebra A_{∞} is the \mathbb{C} -vector space of matrices $(A_{i,j})_{i,j\in\mathbb{Z}+\frac{1}{2}}$ with only finitely many non-zero diagonals (that is, $A_{i,j}$ is not equal to zero only for finitely many possible values of i - j, together with the commutator bracket. In this algebra we consider the following elements:

- (1) The standard basis is the set $\{E_{i,j} \mid i, j \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}\}$ such that $(E_{i,j})_{k,l} = \delta_{i,k}\delta_{j,l}$; (2) The diagonal elements $\mathcal{F}_n = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} k^n E_{k,k}$. In particular the element $C := \mathcal{F}_0$ is called the *charge operator* and the element $E := \mathcal{F}_1$ is called the *energy operator* (an element $A \in A_{\infty}$ has energy $e \in \mathbb{Z}$ if [A, E] = eA);
- (3) For any non-zero integer n, the energy n element $\alpha_n = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} E_{k-n,k}$.

We construct a certain projective representation of this algebra, called the semi-infinite wedge space.

Let V be an infinite-dimensional complex vector space with a basis labeled by halfintegers. Denote the basis vector labeled by m/2 by $\underline{m/2}$, so $V = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} \mathbb{C}\underline{i}$.

Definition 4.2. The semi-infinite wedge space $\bigwedge^{\frac{\infty}{2}}(V) = \mathcal{V}$ is defined to be the span of all of the semi-infinite wedge products of the form

$$(46) \qquad \underline{i_1} \wedge \underline{i_2} \wedge \cdots$$

for any decreasing sequence of half-integers i_k such that there is an integer c with $i_k + k - \frac{1}{2} = c$ for k sufficiently large. The constant c is called the *charge*. We give \mathcal{V} an inner product (\cdot, \cdot) declaring its basis elements to be orthonormal.

Remark 4.3. By definition 4.2 the charge-zero subspace \mathcal{V}_0 of \mathcal{V} is spanned by semi-infinite wedge products of the form

(47)
$$v_{\lambda} = \underline{\lambda_1 - \frac{1}{2}} \wedge \underline{\lambda_2 - \frac{3}{2}} \wedge \cdots$$

for some integer partition λ . Hence we can identify integer partitions with the basis of this space:

(48)
$$\mathcal{V}_0 = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \bigoplus_{\lambda \vdash n} \mathbb{C} v_{\lambda}$$

The empty partition \emptyset plays a special role. We call

(49)
$$v_{\emptyset} = -\frac{1}{2} \wedge -\frac{3}{2} \wedge \cdots$$

the vacuum vector and we denote it by $|0\rangle$. Similarly we call the covacuum vector its dual with respect to the scalar product (\cdot, \cdot) and we denote it by $\langle 0|$.

Definition 4.4. The vacuum expectation value or disconnected correlator $\langle \mathcal{P} \rangle$ of an operator \mathcal{P} acting on \mathcal{V}_0 is defined to be:

(50)
$$\langle \mathcal{P} \rangle \coloneqq (|0\rangle, \mathcal{P}|0\rangle) \eqqcolon \langle 0|\mathcal{P}|0\rangle$$

The connected correlators $\langle \mathcal{P} \rangle^{\circ}$ are defined through the disconnected ones in the usual way with the help of the inclusion-exclusion formula.

Definition 4.5. Define a projective representation of A_{∞} on \mathcal{V}_0 as follows: for $i \neq j$ or i = j > 0, $E_{i,j}$ checks whether v_{λ} contains \underline{j} as a factor and replaces it by \underline{i} if it does. If i = j < 0, $E_{i,j}v_{\lambda} = -v_{\lambda}$ if v_{λ} does not contain \underline{j} . In all other cases it gives zero.

Equivalently, this gives a representation of the central extension $A_{\infty} + \mathbb{C}Id$, with commutation relations between the basis elements given by

(51)
$$[E_{a,b}, E_{c,d}] = \delta_{b,c} E_{a,d} - \delta_{a,d} E_{c,b} + \delta_{b,c} \delta_{a,d} (\delta_{b>0} - \delta_{d>0}) \text{Id}.$$

The operator $E_{i,j}$ has energy j-i, hence all the \mathcal{F}_n 's have zero energy. Operators with positive energy annihilate the vacuum while negative energy operators are annihilated by the covacuum.

Note that $[\alpha_k, \alpha_l] = k \delta_{k+l,0}$.

Also let us denote by $(\Delta f)(l) = f(l) - f(l-1)$ the difference operator acting on functions of l. Using the commutation rule (51), it is useful to obtain the following:

Lemma 4.6. For any integer a

(52)
$$\left| \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} E_{l-1,l}, \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} f(l) E_{l+a,l} \right| = \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} (\Delta f)(l) E_{l+a-1,l} + \delta_{a,1} f_{-1/2} \mathrm{Id}.$$

4.2. The BMS numbers. As we mentioned in the introduction (see (6), (7)) the BMS numbers have the following expression in terms of fermionic Fock space operators:

(53)
$$\sum_{g=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mu} \frac{\hbar^{2g-2+l(\mu)+|\mu|}}{|\operatorname{Aut}(\mu)|} b_{g,\mu}^{\circ} \prod_{i=1}^{l(\mu)} p_{\mu_i} = \sum_{|\mu|} \sum_{\mu\vdash|\mu|} \prod_{i=1}^{|\mu|} (1+\hbar \operatorname{cr}_i^{\mu})^m \frac{\dim \mu}{|\mu|!} s_{\mu}(p_1, p_2, \ldots)$$

Let us denote by $D(\hbar)$ an operator acting on the basis of the charge zero sector of the Fock space with the eigenvalues equal to the generating series for the elementary symmetric polynomials $\sigma_k(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$:

(54)
$$D(\hbar)v_{\lambda} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sigma_k(c(\lambda))\hbar^k v_{\lambda} = \prod_{i,j\in\lambda} (1+\hbar(j-i))v_{\lambda}.$$

Here $c(\lambda)$ is a vector of contents of the diagram λ and in the last identity we used the standard expression for the generating series of the elementary symmetric polynomials:

(55)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sigma_k(x_1, \dots, x_n) t^k = \prod_{i=1}^n (1+tx_i).$$

Now we can rewrite the BMS numbers as the following vacuum expectation value:

(56)
$$\sum_{g=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mu} \frac{\hbar^{2g-2+l(\mu)+|\mu|}}{|\operatorname{Aut}(\mu)|} b_{g,\mu}^{\circ} \prod_{i=1}^{l(\mu)} p_{\mu_i} = \left\langle e^{\alpha_1} D(\hbar)^m e^{\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_{-i} p_i}{i}} \right\rangle^{\circ};$$

(57)
$$b_{g,\mu}^{\circ} = \left[\hbar^{2g-2+l(\mu)+|\mu|}\right] \left\langle e^{\alpha_1} D(\hbar)^m \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\alpha_{-\mu_i}}{\mu_i} \right\rangle^{\circ}$$

The operators e^{α_1} and $D(\hbar)^m$ act identically on the vacuum. Therefore, we rewrite the last formula as

(58)
$$b_{g,\mu}^{\circ} = \left[\hbar^{2g-2+l(\mu)+|\mu|}\right] \left\langle e^{\alpha_1} D(\hbar)^m \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\alpha_{-\mu_i}}{\mu_i} D(\hbar)^{-m} e^{-\alpha_1} \right\rangle^{\circ}.$$

5. The \mathcal{A} -operators

Let us define the following operators:

Definition 5.1. For a positive integer k

(59)
$$\check{\mathcal{A}}(k,\hbar) := \hbar^{-k} e^{\alpha_1} D(\hbar)^m \frac{\alpha_{-k}}{k} D(\hbar)^{-m} e^{-\alpha_1}$$

With the help of this definition we can reformulate (58) as follows:

Proposition 5.2. We have:

(60)
$$b_{g,\mu}^{\circ} = \left[\hbar^{2g-2+l(\mu)}\right] \left\langle \prod_{i=1}^{n} \check{\mathcal{A}}(\mu_{i},\hbar) \right\rangle^{\circ}.$$

5.1. Quasi-rationality of the \mathring{A} -operators. In this subsection we prove the quasirationality of the coefficients of the \mathring{A} -operators. 5.1.1. The \check{A} -operator via the difference operator. We need to prove the following technical lemmata first:

Lemma 5.3. We have:

(61)
$$D^{m}(\hbar)\alpha_{-k}D^{-m}(\hbar) = \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{k} (1 + \hbar(l + i - 1/2))^{m} E_{l+k,l}$$

Proof. Let $D = \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} d_l E_{l,l}$, where $\frac{d_{l+1}}{d_l} = 1 + \hbar(l+1/2)$. Let us track the element \underline{l} under the action of $D^m(\hbar)\alpha_{-k}D^{-m}(\hbar)$:

(62)
$$\underline{l} \xrightarrow{D^{-1}} d_l^{-1} \underline{l} \xrightarrow{\alpha_{-k}} d_l^{-1} \underline{l+k} \xrightarrow{D} \frac{d_{l+k}}{d_l} \underline{l+k}.$$

It remains to be noticed that $\frac{d_{l+k}}{d_l} = \prod_{i=1}^k \frac{d_{l+i}}{d_{l+i-1}} = \prod_{i=1}^k (1 + \hbar(l+i-1/2)).$

Notation 2. Let

(63)
$$P_k(l) := \prod_{i=0}^{k-1} (1 + \hbar(l + i + 1/2)).$$

In particular,

(64)
$$D^{m}(\hbar)\alpha_{-k}D^{-m}(\hbar) = \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} (P_{k}(l))^{m} E_{l+k,l}$$

Lemma 5.4. For any positive integer a

(65)
$$e^{\alpha_1} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} f(l) E_{l+a,l} e^{-\alpha_1} = \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\Delta^t f)(l)}{t!} E_{l+a-t,l} + \frac{(\Delta^{a-1} f)_{-1/2}}{a!} \mathrm{Id}.$$

Proof. Recall Hadamard's formula: $e^X Y e^{-X} = e^{\operatorname{ad}_X}(Y)$, where $\operatorname{ad}_X(\cdot) = [X, \cdot]$. Using this and Lemma 4.6 we have: (66)

$$e^{\alpha_{1}} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} f(l) E_{l+a,l} e^{-\alpha_{1}} = \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\Delta^{t} f)(l)}{t!} E_{l+a-t,l} + (\delta_{a,1} f_{-1/2} + \frac{1}{2!} \delta_{a-1,1} (\Delta f)_{-1/2} + \frac{1}{3!} \delta_{a-2,1} (\Delta^{2} f)_{-1/2} + \dots) \mathrm{Id}$$
$$= \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\Delta^{t} f)(l)}{t!} E_{l+a-t,l} + \frac{(\Delta^{a-1} f)_{-1/2}}{a!} \mathrm{Id}.$$

Proposition 5.5. We have:

(67)
$$\check{\mathcal{A}}(k,\hbar) = \frac{\hbar^{-k}}{k} \left(\sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} \frac{(\Delta^{q+k} P_k^m)(l)}{(q+k)!} E_{l-q,l} + \frac{(\Delta^{k-1} P_k^m)(l)|_{l=-1/2}}{k!} \mathrm{Id} \right).$$

Proof. Follows from Definition 5.1, Lemma 5.3 and Lemma 5.4.

5.1.2. The difference operator and the P- and R-polynomials. Now let us formulate some technical results about the difference operator Δ .

Lemma 5.6. If t > k, then $\Delta^t P_k(l) = 0$ and if $0 \le t \le k$, then

(68)
$$\Delta^t P_k(l) = (k)_t \hbar^t \prod_{i=0}^{k-t-1} (1 + \hbar(l+i+1/2)) = (k)_t \hbar^t P_{k-t}(l),$$

where we recall that $(k)_t$ denotes the falling factorial, see equation (4).

Proof. The proof is a straightforward induction on the parameter t.

Proposition 5.7. We have:

(69)
$$\frac{\Delta^t P_k^m(l)}{t!} = \sum_{i_1 + \dots + i_m = t} \prod_{j=1}^m \frac{\Delta^{i_j} P_k(l - i_{j+1} - \dots - i_m)}{i_j!}$$
$$= \sum_{i_1 + \dots + i_m = t} \hbar^t \prod_{j=1}^m \frac{(k)_{i_j}}{i_j!} P_{k-i_j}(l - i_{j+1} - \dots - i_m),$$

where the summations go over all ordered tuples of non-negative integers (i_1, \ldots, i_m) . Proof. By induction on the parameter t using Lemma 5.6 and the following identity: (70) $(\Delta fg)(l) = (\Delta f)(l)g(l) + f(l-1)(\Delta g)(l).$

In what follows we will extensively use the following expressions:

Definition 5.8. We define

(71)
$$R(\hbar; k, l, i_1, \dots, i_m) := \prod_{j=1}^m P_{k-i_j}(l - i_{j+1} - \dots - i_m)$$
$$= \prod_{j=1}^m \prod_{\gamma_j=0}^{k-i_j-1} (1 + \hbar(l - i_{j+1} - \dots - i_m + \gamma_j + 1/2));$$
(72)
$$R_p(k, l, i_1, \dots, i_m) := [\hbar^p] \prod_{j=1}^m P_{k-i_j}(l - i_{j+1} - \dots - i_m)$$
$$= [\hbar^p] R(\hbar; k, l, i_1, \dots, i_m).$$

Proposition 5.9. Expression $R_p(k, l, i_1, ..., i_m)$ defined by equation (72) is a polynomial of total degree 2p in all of its variables, and moreover $R_p(k, l, 0, ..., 0)$ is divisible by k.

Proof. We have (73)

$$[\hbar^{p}] \prod_{j=1}^{m} P_{k-i_{j}}(l-i_{j+1}-\ldots-i_{m}) = [\hbar^{p}] \prod_{j=1}^{m} \prod_{\gamma_{j}=0}^{k-i_{j}-1} (1+\hbar(l-i_{j+1}-\ldots-i_{m}+\gamma_{j}+1/2))$$

$$= \sum_{\beta_{1}+\ldots+\beta_{m}=p} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{0 \le \gamma_{1}<\ldots<\gamma_{\beta_{j}}< k-i_{j}} \prod_{r=1}^{\beta_{j}} (l-i_{j+1}-\ldots-i_{m}+\gamma_{r}+1/2)$$

From the last formula it is easy to see that the current proposition follows from Proposition A.1, including the divisibility statement. $\hfill \Box$

5.1.3. The quasi-rationality statements.

Proposition 5.10. For any $q \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ and $p \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ we have

(74)
$$[\hbar^{q+p}][E_{l-q,l}]\check{\mathcal{A}}(k,\hbar) = \sum_{\substack{0 \le \sigma \le \min(2p,q+k)\\s_1 + \dots + s_m = \sigma}} Q^p_{s_1,\dots,s_m}(k,l) \frac{(k)_{s_1} \cdots (k)_{s_m}}{k(q+k-\sigma)!} (mk-\sigma)_{k+q-\sigma},$$

where $Q_{s_1,\ldots,s_m}^p(k,l)$ are some polynomials in k and l. Moreover, the polynomials $Q_{0,\ldots,0}^p(k,l)$ are divisible by k.

Proof. Consider the following basis in the space of polynomials of total degree $\leq 2p$ in variables i_1, \ldots, i_m :

(75)
$$\{(i_1)_{s_1}\cdots(i_m)_{s_m}|s_1+\ldots+s_m\leq 2p\}$$

Since it follows from Proposition 5.9 (in the notation of that proposition) that R_p is a polynomial in i_1, \ldots, i_m of total degree 2p, it can be expressed in terms of this basis:

(76)
$$R_p(k,l,i_1,\ldots,i_m) = \sum_{\sigma=0}^{2p} \sum_{s_1+\cdots+s_m=\sigma} Q_{s_1,\ldots,s_m}^p(k,l) \cdot (i_1)_{s_1}\cdots (i_m)_{s_m},$$

where $Q_{s_1,\ldots,s_m}^p(k,l)$ are some polynomials in k and l of degree $\leq 2p$. Since $R_p(k,l,0,\ldots,0)$ is divisible by k we naturally obtain that $Q_{0,\ldots,0}^p(k,l)$ is divisible by k.

Now, with the help of Proposition 5.7, we can write

$$\begin{aligned} & [\hbar^{q+p}][E_{l-q,l}]\check{\mathcal{A}}(k,\hbar) = [\hbar^{q+p}]\frac{\hbar^{-k}}{k}\frac{(\Delta^{q+k}P_k^m)(l)}{(q+k)!} \\ &= [\hbar^{q+p}]\sum_{i_1+\ldots+i_m=q+k}\frac{\hbar^q}{k}\prod_{j=1}^m\frac{(k)_{i_j}}{i_j!}P_{k-i_j}(l-i_{j+1}-\ldots-i_m) \\ &= \frac{1}{k}\sum_{i_1+\ldots+i_m=q+k}R_p(k,l,i_1,\ldots,i_m)\prod_{j=1}^m\frac{(k)_{i_j}}{i_j!} \\ &= \frac{1}{k}\sum_{i_1+\ldots+i_m=q+k}\sum_{\sigma=0}^{2p}\sum_{s_1+\cdots+s_m=\sigma}Q_{s_1,\ldots,s_m}^p(k,l)\prod_{j=1}^m\frac{(k)_{i_j}\cdot(i_j)_{s_j}}{i_j!} \\ &= \frac{1}{k}\sum_{\substack{0\leq\sigma\leq\min(2p,q+k)\\s_1+\cdots+s_m=\sigma}}Q_{s_1,\ldots,s_m}^p(k,l)\cdot(k)_{s_1}\cdots(k)_{s_m}\sum_{i_1+\ldots+i_m=q+k}\prod_{j=1}^m\frac{(k-s_j)_{i_j-s_j}}{(i_j-s_j)!} \\ &= \frac{1}{k}\sum_{\substack{0\leq\sigma\leq\min(2p,q+k)\\s_1+\cdots+s_m=\sigma}}Q_{s_1,\ldots,s_m}^p(k,l)\cdot(k)_{s_1}\cdots(k)_{s_m}\cdot\frac{(mk-\sigma)_{q+k-\sigma}}{(q+k-\sigma)!} \end{aligned}$$

Note that in this computation in the third line from the bottom all terms with $\sigma > q + k$ vanish as in that case $\exists j : i_j < s_j$, and thus $(i_j)_{s_j} = 0$ for that j. In the last equality we used the falling factorial version of the multinomial formula, i.e.

(78)
$$\sum_{i_1+\ldots+i_m=t} \frac{t!}{i_1!\cdots i_m!} (k_1)_{i_1}\cdots (k_m)_{i_m} = (k_1+\ldots+k_m)_t$$

This proves the proposition.

Proposition 5.11. We have:

(79)
$$[\hbar^{q+p}][E_{l-q,l}]\check{\mathcal{A}}(k,\hbar) \\ = \frac{(mk-m)!}{k! (mk-k-1)!} \cdot \frac{1}{\prod_{\substack{m \le j \le 2p-1 \\ m \nmid j}} \left(k - \frac{j}{m}\right)} \cdot \frac{\mathrm{S}_{p,l,q}(k)}{(k+1)(k+2)\cdots(k+q)},$$

where $S_{p,l,q}(k)$ is some polynomial in k of degree $\leq 6p + q$.

Proof. Let us look at equation (74). For $q \ge \sigma$ and $\sigma \ge m$ we have

$$(80) \qquad \frac{(k)_{s_{1}}\cdots(k)_{s_{m}}}{(q+k-\sigma)!} (mk-\sigma)_{k+q-\sigma} = \frac{(mk-m)!}{k! (mk-k-1)!} \cdot (k)_{s_{1}}\cdots(k)_{s_{m}} \cdot \frac{1}{(k+1)\cdots(k+q-\sigma)} \times \frac{(mk-k-1)!}{(mk-\sigma+1)(mk-\sigma+2)\cdots(mk-m)} \cdot \frac{1}{(mk-k-q)!} = \frac{(mk-m)!}{k! (mk-k-1)!} \cdot (k)_{s_{1}}\cdots(k)_{s_{m}} \cdot \frac{1}{(k+1)\cdots(k+q-\sigma)} \times \frac{m^{m-\sigma} (mk-k-1)_{q-1}}{\prod_{\substack{m\leq j\leq \sigma-1\\m\mid j}} \left(k-\frac{j}{m}\right)} \cdot \frac{1}{\prod_{1\leq r\leq \lfloor (\sigma-1)/m \rfloor} (k-r)}$$

Since $s_1 + \ldots + s_m = \sigma$, for at least one j we have $s_j \ge \sigma/m$. This means that for this j all product terms in $\prod_{1 \le r \le \lfloor (\sigma-1)/m \rfloor} (k-r)$ get cancelled with terms from $(k)_{s_j}$.

Thus any term from the sum in the RHS of (74) for $q \ge \sigma$ and $\sigma \ge m$ is in fact of the form as in the RHS of (79). The cases when q, σ and σ, m are related in three other possible ways are almost completely analogous, only easier (as for e.g. $\sigma < m$ the extra poles do not even appear).

What remains is to see that the factor 1/k from (74) gets canceled. For $\sigma > 0$ at least one of the s_j is greater than zero, and thus the product $(k)_{s_1} \cdots (k)_{s_m}$ is divisible by k which cancels 1/k. For $\sigma = 0$ we have $\forall j \ s_j = 0$, and thus this term comes with $Q_{0,\dots,0}^p(k,l)$ which is divisible by k as stated in Proposition 5.10, which, again, cancels the 1/k factor.

Finally, the upper bound of 6p + q on the degree of $S_{p,l,q}(k)$ comes from the fact that polynomials Q_{s_1,\ldots,s_m}^p have degree $\leq 2p$ and from comparing (80) with (79) and (74). \Box

Proposition 5.12. For any $p \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ we have:

(81)
$$[\hbar^p][\mathrm{Id}]\check{\mathcal{A}}(k,u) = \sum_{\substack{0 \le \sigma \le \min(2p+2,k-1)\\s_1 + \dots + s_m = \sigma}} Q^{p+1}_{s_1,\dots,s_m}(k,-1/2) \frac{(k)_{s_1} \cdots (k)_{s_m}}{k^2(k-1-\sigma)!} (mk-\sigma)_{k-1-\sigma}$$

where $Q_{s_1,\ldots,s_m}^p(k,l)$ are the same polynomials in k and l as in Proposition 5.10.

Proof. Recall equation (76) and Proposition 5.7. Analogous to the proof of Proposition 5.10, we have (82)

$$\begin{split} & [\hbar^{p}][\mathrm{Id}]\check{\mathcal{A}}(k,\hbar) = [\hbar^{p}] \frac{\hbar^{-k}}{k} \frac{(\Delta^{k-1} P_{k}^{m})(l)|_{l=-1/2}}{k!} \\ & = [\hbar^{p+1}] \sum_{i_{1}+\ldots+i_{m}=k-1} \frac{1}{k^{2}} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{(k)_{i_{j}}}{i_{j}!} P_{k-i_{j}}(-1/2 - i_{j+1} - \ldots - i_{m}) \\ & = \frac{1}{k^{2}} \sum_{i_{1}+\ldots+i_{m}=k-1} R_{p+1}(k, -1/2, i_{1}, \ldots, i_{m}) \prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{(k)_{i_{j}}}{i_{j}!} \\ & = \frac{1}{k^{2}} \sum_{i_{1}+\ldots+i_{m}=k-1} \sum_{\sigma=0}^{2p+2} \sum_{s_{1}+\cdots+s_{m}=\sigma} Q_{s_{1},\ldots,s_{m}}^{p+1}(k, -1/2) \prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{(k)_{i_{j}} \cdot (i_{j})_{s_{j}}}{i_{j}!} \\ & = \frac{1}{k^{2}} \sum_{0 \le \sigma \le \min(2p+2, k-1)} Q_{s_{1},\ldots,s_{m}}^{p+1}(k, -1/2) \cdot (k)_{s_{1}} \cdots (k)_{s_{m}} \sum_{i_{1}+\ldots+i_{m}=k-1} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{(k-s_{j})_{i_{j}-s_{j}}}{(i_{j}-s_{j})!} \\ & = \frac{1}{k^{2}} \sum_{0 \le \sigma \le \min(2p+2, k-1)} Q_{s_{1},\ldots,s_{m}}^{p+1}(k, -1/2) \cdot (k)_{s_{1}} \cdots (k)_{s_{m}} \cdot \frac{(mk-\sigma)_{k-1-\sigma}}{(k-1-\sigma)!}. \end{split}$$

This proves the proposition.

Proposition 5.13. We have:

(83)
$$[\hbar^{p}][\mathrm{Id}]\check{\mathcal{A}}(k,\hbar) = \frac{(mk-m)!}{k! (mk-k-1)!} \cdot \frac{1}{\prod_{\substack{m \le j \le 2p+1 \\ m \nmid j}} \left(k - \frac{j}{m}\right)} \cdot \frac{\mathrm{S}_{p}^{\mathrm{Id}}(k)}{k^{2} (mk-k+1)},$$

where $\mathbf{S}_p^{\mathrm{Id}}(k)$ is some polynomial in k.

Proof. Let us look at equation (81). For $\sigma \geq m$ we have

$$(84) \qquad \frac{(k)_{s_{1}}\cdots(k)_{s_{m}}}{(k-1-\sigma)!} (mk-\sigma)_{k-1-\sigma} = \frac{(mk-m)!}{k!(mk-k-1)!} \cdot (k)_{s_{1}}\cdots(k)_{s_{m}} \cdot (k-\sigma)\cdots(k-1) k \times \frac{(mk-k-1)!}{(mk-\sigma+1)(mk-\sigma+2)\cdots(mk-m)} \cdot \frac{1}{(mk-k+1)!} = \frac{(mk-m)!}{k!(mk-k-1)!} \cdot (k)_{s_{1}}\cdots(k)_{s_{m}} \cdot (k-\sigma)\cdots(k-1) k \times \frac{m^{m-\sigma}}{\prod_{\substack{m \leq j \leq \sigma-1 \\ m \nmid j}} \left(k-\frac{j}{m}\right)} \cdot \frac{1}{1 \leq r \leq \lfloor(\sigma-1)/m\rfloor} (k-r)} \cdot \frac{1}{(mk-k)(mk-k+1)} = \frac{(mk-m)!}{k!(mk-k-1)!} \cdot (k)_{s_{1}}\cdots(k)_{s_{m}} \times \frac{m^{m-\sigma}}{\prod_{\substack{m \leq j \leq \sigma-1 \\ m \nmid j}} \left(k-\frac{j}{m}\right)} \cdot \left(\prod_{\lfloor(\sigma-1)/m\rfloor < r \leq \sigma} (k-r)\right) \cdot \frac{1}{(m-1)(mk-k+1)}$$

Thus any term from the sum in the RHS of (81) for $\sigma \ge m$ is in fact of the form as in the RHS of (83).

The case when $\sigma < m$ is almost completely analogous, only easier (as in that case the extra poles at j/m do not even appear). This proves the proposition.

5.1.4. *Further technical statements.* In order to continue we need a further couple of technical propositions.

Proposition 5.14. We have:

(85)
$$\Delta_{i_j} R(\hbar; k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m) = \left(1 - (1 + \hbar(k - i_j - \dots - i_m)) \cdot \prod_{q=1}^{j-1} \frac{1 + \hbar(k - i_q - \dots - i_m)}{1 + \hbar(-i_{q+1} - \dots - i_m)} \right) \times R(\hbar; k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m),$$

where Δ_{i_j} is the backward difference operator in variable i_j which acts on a function $f(i_1, \ldots, i_m)$ in the following way:

(86) $\Delta_{i_j} f(i_1, \dots, i_m) := f(i_1, \dots, i_{j-1}, i_j, i_{j+1}, \dots, i_m) - f(i_1, \dots, i_{j-1}, i_j - 1, i_{j+1}, \dots, i_m).$ *Proof.* From the definition of $R(\hbar; k, l, i_1, \dots, i_m)$, i.e. formula (71), we have

(87)
$$R(\hbar; k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m) = \prod_{n=1}^m \prod_{\gamma_n=0}^{k-i_n-1} (1 + \hbar(\gamma_n - i_{n+1} - \dots - i_m))$$

From the definition of Δ_{i_j} we have

(88)
$$\Delta_{i_j} R(\hbar; k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m) = R(\hbar; k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_j, \dots, i_m) - R(\hbar; k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_j - 1, \dots, i_m).$$

Note that the polynomial $R(\hbar; k, -1/2, i_1, \ldots, i_j - 1, \ldots, i_m)$ has mostly the same factors as $R(\hbar; k, -1/2, i_1, \ldots, i_j, \ldots, i_m)$, apart from an extra factor of $(1 + \hbar(k - i_j - \cdots - i_m))$ coming from the increased upper product limit in the *j*-th product, and also the factors

(89)
$$\frac{1 + \hbar (k - i_q - \dots - i_m)}{1 + \hbar (-i_{q+1} - \dots - i_m)}$$

for each q-th product for $q = 1, \ldots, j - 1$, since shifting i_j by -1 in the factors where it is present is the same as shifting both lower and upper product limits by +1 in the corresponding products. Thus we obtain (85), which proves the proposition.

Proposition 5.15. We have

(90)
$$\left(\mathfrak{E} R(\hbar; k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m)\right)\Big|_{i_1=\dots=i_m=k} = \binom{m}{2} k^2 \hbar,$$

where \mathfrak{E} is the discrete Euler operator in the *i*-variables defined as

(91)
$$\mathfrak{E} := \sum_{j=1}^{m} i_j \,\Delta_{i_j}$$

Proof. From Proposition 5.14 we have

(92)
$$\mathfrak{E} R(\hbar; k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m) = \left(\sum_{j=1}^m i_j \left(1 - (1 + \hbar(k - i_j - \dots - i_m)) \cdot \prod_{q=1}^{j-1} \frac{1 + \hbar(k - i_q - \dots - i_m)}{1 + \hbar(-i_{q+1} - \dots - i_m)} \right) \right) \times R(\hbar; k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m)$$

Once we plug $i_j = k$ for every j we get

(93)
$$\left(\mathfrak{E} R(\hbar; k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m) \right) \Big|_{i_1 = \dots = i_m = k}$$

$$= \left(\sum_{j=1}^m k \left(1 - (1 + \hbar(j - m)k) \cdot \prod_{q=1}^{j-1} \frac{1 + \hbar(q - m)k}{1 + \hbar(q - m)k} \right) \right) R(\hbar; k, -1/2, k, \dots, k)$$

$$= \left(\sum_{j=1}^m k^2 \hbar(m - j) \right) R(\hbar; k, -1/2, k, \dots, k)$$

$$= \frac{m(m-1)}{2} k^2 \hbar R(\hbar; k, -1/2, k, \dots, k)$$

$$= \binom{m}{2} k^2 \hbar$$

The last equality holds since $R(\hbar; k, -1/2, k, ..., k) = 1$ as for these values of its arguments R is a product of zero terms and thus equal to 1.

Proposition 5.16. For $p \ge 0$ the polynomial $S_p^{Id}(k)$ from Proposition 5.13 is divisible by k^2 and by (mk - k + 1).

Proof. Recall (76), which is the definition of the *Q*-polynomials:

(94)
$$R_p(k, l, i_1, \dots, i_m) = \sum_{\sigma=0}^{2p} \sum_{s_1 + \dots + s_m = \sigma} Q_{s_1, \dots, s_m}^p(k, l) \cdot (i_1)_{s_1} \cdots (i_m)_{s_m}.$$

Denote

(95)
$$V_p^{(\sigma)}(k,l,i_1,\ldots,i_m) := \sum_{s_1+\cdots+s_m=\sigma} Q_{s_1,\ldots,s_m}^p(k,l) \cdot (i_1)_{s_1}\cdots (i_m)_{s_m},$$

so that

(96)
$$R_p(k, l, i_1, \dots, i_m) = \sum_{\sigma=0}^{2p} V_p^{(\sigma)}(k, l, i_1, \dots, i_m).$$

Introduce the following rational expression in k:

(97)
$$\rho_p(k) := \sum_{\sigma=0}^{2p} \frac{(k-1)_{\sigma}}{(mk)_{\sigma}} V_p^{(\sigma)}(k, -1/2, k, \dots, k).$$

Note that

(98)
$$[\hbar^{p-1}][\mathrm{Id}]\check{\mathcal{A}}(k,\hbar) = \frac{1}{k^2} \rho_p(k) \frac{(mk)_{k-1}}{(k-1)!},$$

as follows from (81) and (76). We also have

(99)
$$\frac{(mk)_{k-1}}{(k-1)!} = \frac{(mk-m)!}{k! (mk-k-1)!} \cdot \frac{mk(mk-1)(mk-2)\cdots(mk-m+1)}{(m-1)(mk-k+1)}.$$

Equations (83), (98), and (99) together imply that

(100)
$$S_{p-1}^{\mathrm{Id}}(k) = \rho_p(k) \cdot k \cdot \frac{m(mk-1)(mk-2)\cdots(mk-m+1)}{m-1} \cdot \prod_{\substack{m \le j \le 2p-1 \\ m \nmid j}} \left(k - \frac{j}{m}\right).$$

From the last equation it is evident that in order to prove the present proposition it is sufficient to prove that for p > 0 expression $\rho_p(k)$ has zeroes at k = 1/(1 - m), i.e. at mk - k + 1 = 0, and at k = 0. Let us prove it.

First, let us prove that

(101)
$$\rho_p(k) = \left(\frac{(mk - \mathfrak{E})_{mk-k+1}}{(mk)_{mk-k+1}} R_p(k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m) \right) \Big|_{i_1 = \dots = i_m = k}$$

where \mathfrak{E} is the discrete Euler operator in the *i*-variables defined in (91). In order to prove this equation note that

(102)
$$\mathfrak{E}(i_1)_{s_1}\cdots(i_m)_{s_m} = (s_1 + \cdots + s_m) \cdot (i_1)_{s_1}\cdots(i_m)_{s_m}$$

and that

(103)
$$\frac{(k-1)_{\sigma}}{(mk)_{\sigma}} = \frac{\Gamma(k) \Gamma(mk+1-\sigma)}{\Gamma(k-\sigma) \Gamma(mk+1)} = \frac{(mk-\sigma)_{mk-k+1}}{(mk)_{mk-k+1}}.$$

Thus (for $s_1 + \cdots + s_m = \sigma$) we have

(104)
$$\frac{(k-1)_{\sigma}}{(mk)_{\sigma}} (k)_{s_1} \cdots (k)_{s_m} = \left(\frac{(mk-\mathfrak{E})_{mk-k+1}}{(mk)_{mk-k+1}} (i_1)_{s_1} \cdots (i_m)_{s_m} \right) \Big|_{i_1=\cdots=i_m=k},$$

which proves (101) after one takes into account the definition of $\rho_p(k)$, i.e. formula (97).

Let us prove that $\rho_p(k)$ for p > 0 has a zero at mk - k + 1 = 0, i.e. at k = 1/(1 - m). Let mk - k + 1 = 0. In that case we have

(105)
$$\rho_p(k)|_{mk-k+1=0} = \left(\frac{(mk - \mathfrak{E})_{mk-k+1}}{(mk)_{mk-k+1}} R_p(k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m)\right)\Big|_{\substack{i_1 = \dots = i_m = k \\ mk-k+1=0}} \\ = \left(R_p(k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m)\right)\Big|_{\substack{i_1 = \dots = i_m = k \\ mk-k+1=0}} = \left(R_p(k, -1/2, k, \dots, k)\right)\Big|_{mk-k+1=0} \\ = \delta_{p,0}\Big|_{mk-k+1=0} = \delta_{p,0}.$$

What is left is to prove that $\rho_p(k)$ has a zero at k = 0. Let us introduce the following function that depends on k and on a new formal variable k:

(106)
$$\widetilde{\rho}_{p}(k,\tilde{k}) := \sum_{\sigma=0}^{2p} \frac{(m(k-\tilde{k})+\tilde{k}-1)_{\sigma}}{(mk)_{\sigma}} V_{p}^{(\sigma)}(k,-1/2,k,\ldots,k) = \left(\frac{(mk-\mathfrak{E})_{m\tilde{k}-\tilde{k}+1}}{(mk)_{m\tilde{k}-\tilde{k}+1}} R_{p}(k,-1/2,i_{1},\ldots,i_{m})\right)\Big|_{i_{1}=\cdots=i_{m}=k}$$

Note that

(107)
$$\widetilde{\rho}_p(k, \widetilde{k}) = \frac{\mathfrak{P}(k, \widetilde{k})}{\mathfrak{Q}(k)},$$

where $\mathfrak{P}(k, \tilde{k})$ is a polynomial in k and \tilde{k} and $\mathfrak{Q}(k)$ is a polynomial in k not divisible by k. The fact that \mathfrak{P} and \mathfrak{Q} are polynomials is evident from the definition, while the fact that \mathfrak{Q} does not have a zero at k=0 requires a bit of explanation. Note that the poles of the rational function $\tilde{\rho}$ come only from $(mk)_{\sigma}$ in the denominators of the terms in the sum in the definition of $\tilde{\rho}$. For $\sigma > 0$ expression $(mk)_{\sigma}$ has a simple zero at k = 0. But this single factor of k gets canceled with k coming from one of the $(k)_{s_j}$ factors (since for $\sigma > 0$ there is at least one $s_j > 0$). Thus terms with $\sigma > 0$ in ρ do not have poles at k = 0. The term with $\sigma = 0$ does not have any poles at all, which proves the statement. This means that the $\tilde{\rho}_p(k, \tilde{k})$ is continuous at $(k, \tilde{k}) = (0, 0)$ as a function of two variables. Note that

(108)

$$\rho_p(k) = \widetilde{\rho}_p(k, k).$$

Consider $\tilde{\rho}_p(k, 0)$:

(109)
$$\widetilde{\rho}_p(k,0) = \left(\frac{(mk - \mathfrak{E})_1}{(mk)_1} R_p(k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m)\right)\Big|_{i_1 = \dots = i_m = k}$$
$$= \left(\frac{mk - \mathfrak{E}}{mk} R_p(k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m)\right)\Big|_{i_1 = \dots = i_m = k}$$
$$= \left[\hbar^p\right] \left(\frac{mk - \mathfrak{E}}{mk} R(k, -1/2, i_1, \dots, i_m)\right)\Big|_{i_1 = \dots = i_m = k}$$
$$= \left[\hbar^p\right] \frac{mk - \binom{m}{2} k^2 \hbar}{mk}.$$

In this computation in the last equality we used the result of Proposition 5.15 and the fact that R(k, -1/2, k, ..., k) = 1. Since our rational expression $\tilde{\rho}_p(k, k)$ is continuous at (k, k) = (0, 0) and since $\rho_p(k) = \tilde{\rho}_p(k, k)$, we have: (110)

$$\rho_p(0) = \tilde{\rho}_p(k, \tilde{k})|_{k=\tilde{k}=0} = \tilde{\rho}_p(k, 0)|_{k=0} = \left([\hbar^p] \left(1 - \frac{m-1}{2} k\hbar \right) \right) \Big|_{k=0} = [\hbar^p] 1 = \delta_{p,0},$$

ich implies that $\rho_p(0) = 0$ for $p > 0$. This proves the proposition.

which implies that $\rho_p(0) = 0$ for p > 0. This proves the proposition.

5.2. The $\mathring{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}$ -operators. In the present subsection we introduce and study the $\mathring{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}$ operators and relate them to the residues at negative integer points of the rescaled \mathcal{A} operators themselves.

5.2.1. Definition of $\check{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}$. Let us define the $\check{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}$ -operator as

(111)
$$\check{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}(k,\hbar) \coloneqq \hbar^{k} e^{\alpha_{1}} D(\hbar)^{m} \frac{\alpha_{k}}{k} D(\hbar)^{-m} e^{-\alpha_{1}}.$$

We want to express it in terms of functions $P_k(l)$.

Notation 3. Denote

(112)
$$\tilde{P}_k(l) := \prod_{i=0}^{k-1} (1 - \hbar(-l + i + 1/2))$$

Lemma 5.17. For a positive integer k

(113)
$$D^m(\hbar)\alpha_k D^{-m}(\hbar) = \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} \tilde{P}_k^{-m}(l) E_{l-k,l}.$$

Proof. The proof is analogous to the proof of Lemma 5.3.

Therefore using Lemma 5.4 we conclude that

(114)
$$[E_{l-k-t,l}]\check{\mathcal{A}}^{-1}(k,\hbar) = \frac{\hbar^k}{k} \frac{(\Delta^t P_k^{-m})(l)}{t!}.$$

5.2.2. Technical statements about the \tilde{P} - and \tilde{R} -polynomials. Similarly to Lemma 5.6 and Proposition 5.7 we get the following identity for the polynomials $\tilde{P}_k(l)$: If t > k, then $\Delta^t \tilde{P}_k(l) = 0$ and if $0 \le t \le k$, then

(115)
$$\Delta^t \tilde{P}_k^{-1}(l) = (-1)^t k^{(t)} \hbar^t \tilde{P}_{k+t}^{-1}(l),$$

where $k^{(t)} = k(k+1) \dots (k+t-1)$ is the rising factorial. The next identity holds for any function F(l):

(116)
$$\frac{(\Delta^t F^m)(l)}{t!} = \sum_{i_1 + \dots + i_m = t} \prod_{j=1}^m \frac{\Delta^{i_j}}{i_j!} F(l - i_{j+1} - \dots - i_m)$$

Using the last two formulae we get

(117)
$$\frac{(\Delta^t \tilde{P}_k^{-m})(l)}{t!} = \sum_{i_1 + \dots + i_m = t} (-1)^t \hbar^t \prod_{j=1}^m \frac{k^{(i_j)}}{i_j!} \tilde{P}_{k+i_j}^{-1} (l - i_{j+1} - \dots - i_m),$$

where the summations go over all ordered tuples of nonnegative integers (i_1, \ldots, i_m) .

We will need the following two technical propositions:

Proposition 5.18. For

(118)
$$\tilde{R}_p(k, l, i_1, \dots, i_m) := [\hbar^p] \prod_{j=1}^m \tilde{P}_{k+i_j}^{-1} (l - i_{j+1} - \dots - i_m)$$

we have:

(119)
$$\tilde{R}_p(k, l, i_1, \dots, i_m) = R_p(-k, l, i_1, \dots, i_m)$$

Note that $R_p(-k, l, i_1, \ldots, i_m)$ is understood to be the result of substitution of -k in place of k in the polynomial $R_p(k, l, i_1, \ldots, i_m)$ defined in (72), which makes sense since it is a polynomial.

Proof. First let us prove the proposition for the case m = 1, i.e. that (120) $\tilde{R}_p(k,l,i) = R_p(-k,l,i).$

We have

(121)
$$\tilde{R}_{p}(k,l,i) = [\hbar^{p}]\tilde{P}_{k+i}^{-1}(l) = [\hbar^{p}]\prod_{\gamma=0}^{k+i-1} (1 - \hbar(-l + \gamma + 1/2))^{-1}$$
$$= [\hbar^{p}]\prod_{\gamma=1}^{k+i} (1 + \hbar(-l + \gamma - 1/2) + \hbar^{2}(-l + \gamma - 1/2)^{2} + \dots)$$
$$= \sum_{1 \le \gamma_{1} \le \dots \le \gamma_{p} \le k+i} (-l + \gamma_{1} - 1/2) \cdots (-l + \gamma_{p} - 1/2)$$

and

(122)
$$R_p(k,l,i) = [\hbar^p] P_{k-i}(l) = [\hbar^p] \prod_{\gamma=0}^{k-i-1} (1 + \hbar(l + \gamma + 1/2))$$
$$= \sum_{0 < \gamma_1 < \dots < \gamma_p < k-i} (l + \gamma_1 + 1/2) \cdots (l + \gamma_p + 1/2).$$

From (121) and (122) it is easy to see that (120) is directly implied by Proposition A.2. For general m we have

(123)
$$\tilde{R}_{p}(k,l,i_{1},\ldots,i_{m}) = [\hbar^{p}] \prod_{j=1}^{m} \tilde{P}_{k+i_{j}}^{-1}(l-i_{j+1}-\ldots-i_{m})$$
$$= \sum_{\beta_{1}+\ldots+\beta_{m}=p} \prod_{j=1}^{m} [\hbar^{\beta_{j}}] \tilde{P}_{k+i_{j}}^{-1}(l-i_{j+1}-\ldots-i_{m})$$
$$= \sum_{\beta_{1}+\ldots+\beta_{m}=p} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \tilde{R}_{\beta_{j}}(k,l-i_{j+1}-\ldots-i_{m},i_{j})$$
$$\stackrel{(120)}{=} \sum_{\beta_{1}+\ldots+\beta_{m}=p} \prod_{j=1}^{m} R_{\beta_{j}}(-k,l-i_{j+1}-\ldots-i_{m},i_{j}).$$

On the other hand,

(124)
$$R_{p}(k,l,i_{1},\ldots,i_{m}) = [\hbar^{p}] \prod_{j=1}^{m} P_{k-i_{j}}(l-i_{j+1}-\ldots-i_{m})$$
$$= \sum_{\beta_{1}+\ldots+\beta_{m}=p} \prod_{j=1}^{m} [\hbar^{\beta_{j}}] P_{k-i_{j}}(l-i_{j+1}-\ldots-i_{m})$$
$$= \sum_{\beta_{1}+\ldots+\beta_{m}=p} \prod_{j=1}^{m} R_{\beta_{j}}(k,l-i_{j+1}-\ldots-i_{m},i_{j}).$$

We see that the last line of (124) turns precisely into the last line of (123) once one plugs -k in place of k, which proves the proposition.

5.2.3. The A-operators and their residues.

Definition 5.19. Denote

(125)
$$\mathcal{A}(k,\hbar) := \left(\frac{(mk-m)!}{k! (mk-k-1)!}\right)^{-1} \check{\mathcal{A}}(k,\hbar),$$

or, in other words,

(126)
$$\check{\mathcal{A}}(k,\hbar) = \frac{(mk-m)!}{k! (mk-k-1)!} \,\mathcal{A}(k,\hbar).$$

Proposition 5.20. For $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ we have

(127)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{k=-r} \mathcal{A}(k,u) = c(r)\check{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}(r,u),$$

where c(r) is a coefficient which depends only on r.

Proof. Equation (77) for \mathcal{A}^{\dagger} takes the form (128)

$$\begin{split} &[\hbar^{q+p}][E_{l-q,l}]\mathcal{A}^{\dagger}(k,\hbar) = [\hbar^{q+p}] \frac{\hbar^{k}}{k} \frac{(\Delta^{q-k} \tilde{P}_{k}^{-m})(l)}{(q-k)!} \\ &= (-1)^{q-k} [\hbar^{q+p}] \sum_{i_{1}+\ldots+i_{m}=q-k} \frac{\hbar^{q}}{k} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{k^{(i_{j})}}{i_{j}!} \tilde{P}_{k+i_{j}}^{-1}(l-i_{j+1}-\ldots-i_{m}) \\ &= (-1)^{q-k} \sum_{i_{1}+\ldots+i_{m}=q-k} \tilde{R}_{p}(k,l,i_{1},\ldots,i_{m}) \frac{1}{k} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{k^{(i_{j})}}{i_{j}!} \\ &\stackrel{(119)}{=} (-1)^{q-k} \sum_{i_{1}+\ldots+i_{m}=q-k} R_{p}(-k,l,i_{1},\ldots,i_{m}) \frac{1}{k} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{k^{(i_{j})}}{i_{j}!} \\ &= (-1)^{q-k} \sum_{i_{1}+\ldots+i_{m}=q-k} \sum_{\sigma=0}^{2p} \sum_{s_{1}+\cdots+s_{m}=\sigma} Q_{s_{1},\ldots,s_{m}}^{p}(-k,l) \frac{1}{k} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{k^{(i_{j})} \cdot (i_{j})_{s_{j}}}{i_{j}!} \\ &= (-1)^{q-k} \sum_{\sigma=0}^{2p} \sum_{s_{1}+\cdots+s_{m}=\sigma} Q_{s_{1},\ldots,s_{m}}^{p}(-k,l) \cdot k^{(s_{1})} \cdots k^{(s_{m})} \frac{1}{k} \sum_{i_{1}+\ldots+i_{m}=q-k} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{(k+s_{j})^{(i_{j}-s_{j})}}{(i_{j}-s_{j})!} \\ &= (-1)^{q-k} \sum_{\sigma=0}^{2p} \sum_{s_{1}+\cdots+s_{m}=\sigma} Q_{s_{1},\ldots,s_{m}}^{p}(-k,l) \cdot k^{(s_{1})} \cdots k^{(s_{m})} \cdot \frac{(mk+\sigma)^{(q-k-\sigma)}}{k(q-k-\sigma)!}. \end{split}$$

We have

(129)

$$\operatorname{Res}_{k=-r} [\hbar^{q+p}][E_{l-q,l}]\mathcal{A}(k,\hbar) = \operatorname{Res}_{k=-r} \left(\frac{(mk-m)!}{k! (mk-k-1)!}\right)^{-1} \sum_{\sigma=0}^{2p} \sum_{s_1+\dots+s_m=\sigma} Q_{s_1,\dots,s_m}^p(k,l) \cdot (k)_{s_1} \cdots (k)_{s_m} \cdot \frac{(mk-\sigma)_{q+k-\sigma}}{k(q+k-\sigma)!}.$$

Fix $r \leq q-\sigma$. For $q \geq \sigma$ and $\sigma \geq m$ we have:

$$\frac{(130)}{(mk-\sigma)_{k+q-\sigma}} = \frac{(mk-m)!}{k!(mk-k-1)!} \cdot \frac{1}{(k+1)\cdots(k+q-\sigma)} \cdot \frac{(mk-k-1)_{q-1}}{(mk-\sigma+1)\cdots(mk-m)}.$$

Then (131)

$$\begin{aligned} &\operatorname{Res}_{k=-r} \left(\frac{Q_{s_1,\dots,s_m}^p(k,l) \cdot (k)_{s_1} \cdots (k)_{s_m}}{k(k+1) \cdots (k+q-\sigma)} \cdot \frac{(mk-k-1)_{q-1}}{(mk-\sigma+1)(mk-\sigma+2) \cdots (mk-m)} \right) \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{m+r+q}}{r!} \frac{Q_{s_1,\dots,s_m}^p(-r,l) \cdot r^{(s_1)} \cdots r^{(s_m)}}{(q-\sigma-r)!} \cdot \frac{(mr-r+1)^{(q-1)}}{(mr+\sigma-1)(mr+\sigma-2) \cdots (mr+m)} \\ &= \frac{(-1)^m (mr-r+1)^{(m+r-1)}}{r!} \cdot (-1)^{q-r} Q_{s_1,\dots,s_m}^p(-r,l) \cdot r^{(s_1)} \cdots r^{(s_m)} \frac{(mr+\sigma)^{(q-r-\sigma)}}{(q-r-\sigma)!} \end{aligned}$$

For all other possible variants of how q, σ and m are positioned with respect to each other the intermediate computations are slightly different (though analogous), but the final line is one and the same. Thus we have

(132)
$$\underset{k=-r}{\operatorname{Res}} [\hbar^{q+p}] [E_{l-q,l}] \mathcal{A}(k,\hbar)$$

$$= \frac{(-1)^m (mr-r+1)^{(m+r-1)}}{r!}$$

$$\times (-1)^{q-r} \sum_{\sigma=0}^{2p} \sum_{s_1+\dots+s_m=\sigma} Q_{s_1,\dots,s_m}^p (-r,l) \cdot r^{(s_1)} \cdots r^{(s_m)} \frac{(mr+\sigma)^{(q-r-\sigma)}}{(q-r-\sigma)!}$$

$$\underset{=}{\overset{(128)}{=}} \frac{(-1)^m (mr-r+1)^{(m+r-1)}}{r!} \cdot [\hbar^{q+p}] [E_{l-q,l}] \mathcal{A}^{\dagger}(r,\hbar).$$

For $r > q - \sigma$ note that the residue vanishes as there is not any corresponding pole in the expression. At the same time, in the formula for \mathcal{A}^{\dagger} if we look at the third line from below in (128) we can see that since in this case we have $i_1 + \ldots + i_m < s_1 + \ldots + s_m$, there exists at least one j such that $i_j < s_j$ and thus the corresponding $(i_j)_{s_j}$ vanishes, together with the whole summand. Thus for $r > q - \sigma$ the expressions in the top line and in the bottom line of (132) are both zero and therefore agree as well.

This proves the proposition.

6. Quasi-polynomiality of the BMS numbers

In the present section we prove our main result: the quasi-polynomiality of the BMS numbers. Note that in terms of \mathcal{A} -operators equation (60) takes the following form:

(133)
$$b_{g,\mu}^{\circ} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(m\mu_i - m)!}{\mu_i! (m\mu_i - \mu_i - 1)!} \cdot [\hbar^{2g-2+n}] \left\langle \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{A}(\mu_i, \hbar) \right\rangle^{2g}$$

Theorem 6.1. In the stable case, i.e. for $(g, n) \notin \{(0, 1), (0, 2)\}$ we have

(134)
$$b_{g,\mu}^{\circ} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(m\mu_{i} - m)!}{\mu_{i}! (m\mu_{i} - \mu_{i} - 1)!} \cdot \frac{\operatorname{Poly}_{g,n}(\mu_{1}, \dots, \mu_{n})}{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \prod_{m \le j_{i} \le 4g - 4 + 2n - 1} \left(\mu_{i} - \frac{j_{i}}{m}\right)},$$

where $\operatorname{Poly}_{g,n}(\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_n)$ is a polynomial in μ_1,\ldots,μ_n .

Proof. From (133) we see that in order to prove the present theorem it is sufficient to prove the following statement for $(g, n) \notin \{(0, 1), (0, 2)\}$:

(135)
$$\left[\hbar^{2g-2+n}\right] \left\langle \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{A}(\mu_{i},\hbar) \right\rangle^{\circ} = \frac{\operatorname{Poly}_{g,n}(\mu_{1},\ldots,\mu_{n})}{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \prod_{\substack{m \leq j_{i} \leq 4g-4+2n-1 \\ m \not j_{i}}} \left(\mu_{i} - \frac{j_{i}}{m}\right)}$$

for $\operatorname{Poly}_{g,n}(\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_n)$ being some polynomial in μ_1,\ldots,μ_n . From Proposition 5.11 and Definition 5.19 we have:

(136)
$$\mathcal{A}(k,\hbar) = \sum_{q=-k}^{\infty} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \hbar^{p+q} \mathfrak{A}_{p,l,q}(k) E_{l-q,l} + \sum_{p=-1}^{\infty} \hbar^p \mathfrak{I}_p(k) \mathrm{Id},$$

where (for q > 0)

(137)
$$\mathfrak{A}_{p,l,q}(k) = \frac{1}{\prod_{\substack{m \le j \le 2p-1 \\ m \nmid j}} \left(k - \frac{j}{m}\right)} \cdot \frac{\mathcal{S}_{p,l,q}(k)}{(k+1)(k+2)\cdots(k+q)},$$

where $S_{p,l,q}(k)$ are the polynomials from (79), and

(138)
$$\mathfrak{I}_p(k) = \frac{1}{\prod_{\substack{m \le j \le 2p-1 \\ m \nmid j}} \left(k - \frac{j}{m}\right)} \cdot \frac{\mathrm{S}_p^{\mathrm{Id}}(k)}{k^2 \left(mk - k + 1\right)},$$

where $S_p^{Id}(k)$ are the polynomials from Proposition 5.13. Note that the sum over q in (136) starts from q = -k, since for q < -k the expression in e.g. the second line of (77) vanishes.

Consider the disconnected correlator

(139)
$$[\hbar^{2g-2+n}] \langle \mathcal{A}(\mu_1,\hbar) \dots \mathcal{A}(\mu_n,\hbar) \rangle$$

Recall (136). Consider the Id-part of \mathcal{A} . Note that the inclusion-exclusion formula for the connected correlator in terms of the disconnected ones for $n \geq 2$ will always contain the term of the form

(140)
$$\langle \mathcal{A}(\mu_1,\hbar) \rangle \langle \mathcal{A}(\mu_2,\hbar) \dots \mathcal{A}(\mu_n,\hbar) \rangle$$

with the opposite sign. Note that in the one-point correlator only the Id-part gives a nonzero contribution. More precisely,

(141)
$$\langle \mathcal{A}(\mu_1,\hbar) \rangle = \sum_{p=-1}^{\infty} \hbar^p \, \mathfrak{I}_p(k)$$

This is precisely the factor which the Id-part of the operator $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \hbar)$ contributes to $\langle \mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \hbar) \mathcal{A}(\mu_2, \hbar) \dots \mathcal{A}(\mu_n, \hbar) \rangle$, i.e.

(142)
$$\left\langle \sum_{p=-1}^{\infty} \hbar^{p} \mathfrak{I}_{p} \operatorname{Id} \mathcal{A}(\mu_{2}, \hbar) \dots \mathcal{A}(\mu_{n}, \hbar) \right\rangle$$
$$= \langle \mathcal{A}(\mu_{1}, \hbar) \rangle \langle \mathcal{A}(\mu_{2}, \hbar) \dots \mathcal{A}(\mu_{n}, \hbar) \rangle$$

This means that these contributions precisely cancel in the inclusion-exclusion formula. Similar reasoning proves that for $n \ge 2$ the Id-parts of the \mathcal{A} -operators do not give any nonzero contributions into the connected correlator at all. Thus any connected multipoint correlator can only have poles coming from the Id-less parts of the \mathcal{A} -operator. In what follows we will assume that n > 1 and drop the Id-part altogether, and after that we will treat the n = 1 case separately at the very end of this proof of the present proposition.

Note that

(143)
$$\forall q \le 0 \quad \langle 0|E_{l-q,l} = 0,$$

and thus only coefficients $\mathfrak{A}_{p,l,q}(\mu_1)$ with q > 0 will appear in the correlator (139). Note that a correlator of the form

Note that a correlator of the form

(144)
$$\left\langle \left(\sum_{l_1 \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} c_{l_1, q_1} E_{l_1 - q_1, l_1} \right) \cdots \left(\sum_{l_n \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} c_{l_n, q_n} E_{l_n - q_n, l_n} \right) \right\rangle$$

can only be nonzero if $\sum_{i=1}^{n} q_i = 0$. Thus when one writes the \mathcal{A} -operators in terms of the sums over q (136) in the disconnected correlator (139) and expands the brackets, only the terms with $\sum_{i=1}^{n} q_i = 0$ will survive. Also note that in any surviving term in this expression we have $q_1 \geq 0$, due to (143). Finally, note that from (136) we have $q_i \geq -\mu_i$. Thus, for fixed μ_2, \ldots, μ_n we have

$$(145) 0 \le q_1 \le \mu_2 + \dots + \mu_n$$

and

(146)
$$\forall i \in \{2, \dots, n\} \quad -\mu_i \le q_i \le \sum_{\substack{2 \le j \le n \\ j \ne i}} \mu_j$$

Thus when one plugs (136) into the correlator (139) and expands all q-, l- and p-sums only a finite number of terms survives. Indeed, the fact that q-sums become finite is implied by the above reasoning; p-sums become finite since (after we dropped the Id-part) we have only non-negative powers of u entering the picture and we collect a coefficient in front of a specific power of u; and l-sums become finite since we have vacuum on both sides and since we already know that the q-sums are finite.

Since $S_{p,l,q}(k)$ are polynomials, this implies that correlator (139) is a rational function in μ_1 for fixed μ_2, \ldots, μ_n , as a finite sum of rational functions. Moreover, we see that it can have at most simple poles at the negative integer points, at most simple poles at points $\frac{j}{m}$, $m \leq j \leq 4g - 4 + 2n - 1$, $m \nmid j$, and no other poles.

The fact that the disconnected correlators are rational functions in μ_1 automatically implies that the connected ones are rational in μ_1 as well. In order to prove that stable connected correlators are quasi-polynomial in μ_1 , i.e. they have the form (135), we only need to prove that they do not have poles at negative integer points.

Let us prove that for any $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have

(147)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\mu_1=-r} \left\langle \mathcal{A}(\mu_1,\hbar) \mathcal{A}(\mu_2,\hbar) \cdots \mathcal{A}(\mu_n,\hbar) \right\rangle^{\circ} = 0$$

Note that, from the definition (125) of \mathcal{A} -operators, this is equivalent to the following statement:

(148)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\mu_1=-r} \left\langle \mathcal{A}(\mu_1,\hbar) \check{\mathcal{A}}(\mu_2,\hbar) \cdots \check{\mathcal{A}}(\mu_n,\hbar) \right\rangle^{\circ} = 0$$

For $r \notin \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ it is clear. Consider $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$. From Proposition 5.20, for the disconnected correlator we have

(149)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\mu_1=-r}\left\langle \mathcal{A}(\mu_1,\hbar)\prod_{i=2}^n\check{\mathcal{A}}(\mu_i,\hbar)\right\rangle = c(r)\left\langle \check{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}(r,\hbar)\prod_{i=2}^n\check{\mathcal{A}}(\mu_i,\hbar)\right\rangle,$$

where c(r) is the coefficient in Proposition 5.20. Recalling equations (59) and (111) we can see that the RHS of the previous equality reduces to

(150)
$$C\left\langle \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty}\frac{\alpha_{i}p_{i}^{*}}{i}\right)D(u)^{m}\alpha_{r}\prod_{i=2}^{n}\frac{\alpha_{-\mu_{i}}}{\mu_{i}}\right\rangle$$

for some specific coefficient C that depends only on r (and m). Because $[\alpha_k, \alpha_l] = k\delta_{k+l,0}$, and α_r annihilates the vacuum, this residue is zero unless one of the μ_i equals r for $i \geq 2$.

Now return to the connected *n*-point correlator for n > 2. It can be calculated from the disconnected one by the inclusion-exclusion principle, so in particular it is a finite sum of products of disconnected correlators. Hence the connected correlator is also a rational function in μ_1 , and all possible poles must be inherited from the disconnected correlators. The above reasoning implies that we can assume $\mu_i = r$ for some $i \ge 2$. Without loss of generality we can assume that it is the case for i = 2, and $\mu_i \neq r$ for $i \ge 3$. Then we get a contribution from (150), but this is canceled in the inclusion-exclusion formula exactly by the term coming from

(151)

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\mu_{1}=-r} \left\langle \mathcal{A}(\mu_{1},\hbar)\check{\mathcal{A}}(r,\hbar) \right\rangle \left\langle \prod_{i=3}^{n} \check{\mathcal{A}}(\hbar,\mu_{j}) \right\rangle$$

$$= C \left\langle e^{\alpha_{1}} D(\hbar)^{m} \alpha_{r} \alpha_{-r} \right\rangle \left\langle e^{\alpha_{1}} D(\hbar)^{m} \prod_{i=3}^{n} \alpha_{-\mu_{i}} \right\rangle$$

$$= C \left\langle e^{\alpha_{1}} D(\hbar)^{m} \alpha_{r} \prod_{i=2}^{n} \alpha_{-\mu_{i}} \right\rangle$$

Thus we have proved (147) for n > 2, which implies that for n > 2 we have

(152)
$$[\hbar^{2g-2+n}] \left\langle \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{A}(\mu_{i},\hbar) \right\rangle^{\circ} = \frac{\widetilde{\operatorname{Poly}}_{g,n}(\mu_{1},\ldots,\mu_{n})}{\prod_{\substack{m \leq j \leq 2p-1 \\ m \nmid j}} \left(\mu_{1} - \frac{j}{m}\right)},$$

where $\operatorname{Poly}_{g,n}(\mu_1; \mu_2, \dots, \mu_n)$ is some expression polynomial in μ_1 , and p = 2g - 2 + n.

Note that since polynomials $S_{p,l,q}$ had their degree bounded from above by 6p + q, the degree of $\widetilde{\text{Poly}}_{g,n}$ as a polynomial in μ_1 is bounded from above by 6p, since, as follows from what we have shown above, the factors $(\mu_1 + 1) \cdots (\mu_1 + q)$ in the denominator get canceled in the connected correlators, and thus the degree of the polynomial in the numerator gets decreased by q, thus resulting in the 6p bound.

Since the degree of $\operatorname{Poly}_{g,n}(\mu_1; \mu_2, \ldots, \mu_n)$ as a polynomial in μ_1 is bounded from above by a number independent of μ_2, \ldots, μ_n , and since the correlator (139) is symmetric in μ_1, \ldots, μ_n , this implies the statement of the theorem, apart from the 1- and 2-point correlator cases.

Consider the 2-point correlators. Let us prove that they do not have poles at negative integers for the nonzero genus case. For $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ we have

(153)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\mu_1=-r}[\hbar^p] \left\langle \mathcal{A}(\mu_1,\hbar) \mathcal{A}(\mu_2,\hbar) \right\rangle = C[\hbar^p] \left\langle e^{\alpha_1} D(\hbar)^m \alpha_r \alpha_{-\mu_2} \right\rangle$$

This is nonzero only for $\mu_2 = r$ and equal to

(154)
$$C[\hbar^p] \left\langle e^{\alpha_1} D(\hbar)^m \right\rangle = C[\hbar^p] 1$$

which is obviously nonzero only for p = 0, i.e. for the unstable case. Again, the fact that correlator (139) for n = 2 is still symmetric in μ_1 and μ_2 and the analogous reasoning regarding the upper bound on the degree of the polynomial in μ_1 in the numerator as in the case of n > 2 imply that for n = 2 the theorem holds as well.

What remains is to prove that stable one-point correlators are polynomial. Note that

(155)
$$\left[\hbar^{p}\right] \left< \mathcal{A}(k,\hbar) \right> = \mathfrak{I}_{p}(k)$$

since for any *i*, *j* we have $\langle E_{i,j} \rangle = 0$. Propositions 5.13 and 5.16 together imply that for $p \geq 0$ the coefficient $\mathfrak{I}_p(k)$ (given in (138)) is in fact a polynomial in *k*, which is precisely what we need.

Thus we conclude that the statement in (135) holds for n = 1 and n = 2 as well, as long as $(n,k) \notin \{(1,-1), (2,0)\}$. Together with what is written above this implies the statement of the theorem.

The following corollary substantiates, as discussed in the Introduction and Section 2, our motivation in proving the specific combinatorial structure of the BMS numbers provided by the theorem above. Recall the definition of the space Ξ^d in Section 3.

Corollary 6.2. For any $g \ge 0$ and $n \ge 1$, 2g - 2 + n > 0, there exists $d \ge 0$ and a function $W_{g,n}(z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in (\Xi^d)^{\otimes n}$ such that

(156)
$$[X_1^{\mu_1} \cdots X_n^{\mu_n}] W_{g,n} = b^{\circ}_{m,g;\mu_1,\dots,\mu_n}.$$

Here $[X_1^{\mu_1} \cdots X_n^{\mu_n}]W_{g,n}$ corresponds to taking the coefficient in front of $X_1^{\mu_1} \cdots X_n^{\mu_n}$ in the series expansion of $W_{g,n}$ at $X_i \to 0$.

Proof. Follows from Theorem 6.1 and Proposition 3.1.

In particular, this corollary proves the structural statement of the n-point generating functions of the BMS numbers that we mentioned in Remark 2.3.

APPENDIX A. AROUND FAULHABER'S FORMULA

In the present paper we need several technical results related to the classical Faulhaber formula.

Proposition A.1. Expression

(157)
$$T_d(x,k) := \sum_{0 \le \gamma_1 < \dots < \gamma_d < k} (x+\gamma_1) \cdots (x+\gamma_d)$$

is a polynomial in x and k of total degree 2d.

Proof. Recall the classical Faulhaber formula:

(158)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} k^{p} = \frac{n^{p+1}}{p+1} + \frac{1}{2}n^{p} + \sum_{k=2}^{p} (p)_{k-1} n^{p-k+1} \frac{B_{k}}{k!},$$

where B_k are the Bernoulli numbers. Note that this formula implies that $\sum_{\gamma=0}^{k-1} \gamma^p$ is a polynomial in k of degree p+1. Applying this repeatedly to the sum (157) to successively eliminate the sum in γ_1 , then the sum in γ_2 , and so on, one can easily see that the statement of the proposition holds.

Proposition A.2. For the polynomial $T_d(x,k)$ defined in (157) and

(159)
$$\widetilde{T}_d(x,k) := \sum_{1 \le \gamma_1 \le \dots \le \gamma_d \le k} (-x + \gamma_1) \cdots (-x + \gamma_d)$$

we have

(160)
$$T_d(x,k) = T_d(x,-k)$$

By taking $T_d(x, -k)$ we mean first computing the sum in (157) (assuming that $d \ge k$ is a positive integer) and obtaining a polynomial in k as shown in Proposition A.1, and only after that substituting -k in place of k.

Proof. First note that, analogous to Proposition A.1, $\widetilde{T}_d(x,k)$ is a polynomial in k and x.

Let us prove the current proposition by induction in d. For d = 1 the proof is straightforward:

(161)
$$T_1(x,k) = \sum_{0 \le \gamma_1 < k} (x+\gamma_1) = \frac{1}{2} k (k+2x-1)$$
$$\widetilde{T}_1(x,k) = \sum_{1 \le \gamma_1 \le k} (-x+\gamma_1) = \frac{1}{2} k (k-2x+1)$$

Let us assume that $\widetilde{T}_i(x,k) = T_i(x,-k)$ for all i < d. The definitions of T and \widetilde{T} directly imply that

(162)
$$T_d(x,k) - T_d(x,k-1) = (x+k-1) T_{d-1}(x,k-1)$$

(163)
$$\widetilde{T}_{d}(x,k) - \widetilde{T}_{d}(x,k-1) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} (-x+k)^{i} \widetilde{T}_{d-i}(x,k-1)$$

With the help of these two identities and the induction hypothesis we have

(164)
$$T_{p}(x, -b+1) - T_{p}(x, -b) \stackrel{(162)}{=} (x-b) T_{p-1}(x, -b) \stackrel{(160)}{=} (x-b) \widetilde{T}_{p-1}(x, b)$$
$$\stackrel{(163)}{=} (x-b) \left(\widetilde{T}_{p-1}(x, b-1) + \sum_{i=1}^{p-1} (-x+b)^{i} \widetilde{T}_{p-1-i}(x, b-1) \right)$$
$$= -(-x+b) \widetilde{T}_{p-1}(x, b-1) - \sum_{i=1}^{p-1} (-x+b)^{i+1} \widetilde{T}_{p-1-i}(x, b-1)$$
$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{p} (-x+b)^{i+1} \widetilde{T}_{p-i}(x, b-1)$$
$$\stackrel{(163)}{=} - \left(\widetilde{T}_{p}(x, b) - \widetilde{T}_{p}(x, b-1) \right)$$
$$= \widetilde{T}_{p}(x, b-1) - \widetilde{T}_{p}(x, b)$$

Now let us prove that $T_p(x, b) = T_p(x, -b)$ holds for all nonnegative integer values of b by induction in b. For b = 0 both of these expressions are equal to 0 since both of the polynomials $\widetilde{T}_p(x, b)$ and $T_p(x, b)$ are evidently divisible by b. Suppose that $\widetilde{T}_p(x, b-1) = T_p(x, -(b-1))$. Then, since the LHS of the top line of (164) is equal to the bottom line, we have

(165)
$$T_p(x,-b) - \widetilde{T}_p(x,b) \stackrel{(164)}{=} T_p(x,-(b-1)) - \widetilde{T}_p(x,b-1) = 0$$

This proves that $T_p(x, b) = T_p(x, -b)$ for all nonnegative integer values of b; thus they also coincide as polynomials in b, which proves the proposition.

Let us note¹ that if we consider the polynomial $T_d(x, k)$ as an Ehrhart polynomial of some polytope then the previous proposition is just the Ehrhart–Macdonald reciprocity [36].

Proposition A.3. Polynomial $T_d(x,k)$ defined in (157) is divisible by k for $d \ge 1$.

Proof. Note that for $d \ge 1$ the polynomial $\widetilde{T}_d(x, k)$ defined in proposition A.2 is divisible by k. This immediately follows from Faulhaber's formula (158), as after taking the sum over $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_{d-1}$ we will have a sum over γ_d from 1 to k of a polynomial expression in γ_d and from (158) we clearly see that for each individual power the sum is divisible by k. Then Proposition A.2 implies the present proposition, as $\widetilde{T}_d(x, k) = T_d(x, -k)$ and $T_d(x, -k)$ is divisible by k if and only if $T_d(x, k)$ is divisible by k. \Box

References

- A. Alexandrov, G. Chapuy, B. Eynard, and J. Harnad. Weighted Hurwitz numbers and topological recursion. arXiv:1806.09738.
- [2] A. Alexandrov, D. Lewanski, and S. Shadrin. Ramifications of Hurwitz theory, KP integrability and quantum curves. J. High Energy Phys. 2016, no. 5, 124, front matter+30 pp.
- [3] G. Borot, V. Bouchard, N. K. Chidambaram, T. Creutzig, and D. Noshchenko. Higher Airy structures, W algebras and topological recursion. arXiv:1812.08738.
- [4] V. Bouchard and B. Eynard. Think globally, compute locally. J. High Energy Phys. 2013, no. 2, 143, front matter + 34 pp.
- [5] V. Bouchard and B. Eynard. Reconstructing WKB from topological recursion. J. Éc. polytech. Math. 4 (2017), 845–908.
- [6] V. Bouchard, A. Klemm, M. Mariño, and S. Pasquetti. Remodeling the B-model. Comm. Math. Phys. 287 (2009), no. 1, 117–178.
- [7] M. Bousquet-Mélou and G. Schaeffer. Enumeration of planar constellations. Adv. in Appl. Math. 24 (2000), no. 4, 337–368.
- [8] P. Dunin-Barkowski, M. Kazarian, N. Orantin, S. Shadrin, and L. Spitz. Polynomiality of Hurwitz numbers, Bouchard-Mariño conjecture, and a new proof of the ELSV formula. Adv. Math. 279 (2015), 67–103.
- [9] P. Dunin-Barkowski, D. Lewanski, A. Popolitov, and S. Shadrin. Polynomiality of orbifold Hurwitz numbers, spectral curve, and a new proof of the Johnson-Pandharipande-Tseng formula. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 92 (2015), no. 3, 547–565.
- [10] P. Dunin-Barkowski, P. Norbury, N. Orantin, A. Popolitov, and S. Shadrin. Dubrovin's superpotential as a global spectral curve. J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 18 (2019), no. 3, 449–497.
- [11] P. Dunin-Barkowski, N. Orantin, S. Shadrin, and L. Spitz. Identification of the Givental formula with the spectral curve topological recursion procedure. Comm. Math. Phys. 328 (2014), no. 2, 669–700.
- [12] P. Dunin-Barkowski, A. Popolitov, S. Shadrin, and A. Sleptsov. Combinatorial structure of colored HOMFLY-PT polynomials for torus knots. arXiv:1712.08614, 40 pp.
- [13] T. Ekedahl, S. Lando, M. Shapiro, and A. Vainshtein. Hurwitz numbers and intersections on moduli spaces of curves. Invent. Math. 146 (2001), no. 2, 297–327.
- [14] B. Eynard. An overview of the topological recursion. Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Seoul 2014. Vol. III, 1063–1085, Kyung Moon Sa, Seoul, 2014.
- B. Eynard. Counting surfaces. CRM Aisenstadt chair lectures. Progress in Mathematical Physics, 70. Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2016.
- [16] B. Eynard. Invariants of spectral curves and intersection theory of moduli spaces of complex curves. Commun. Number Theory Phys. 8 (2014), no. 3, 541–588.
- [17] B. Eynard and N. Orantin. Topological recursion in enumerative geometry and random matrices. J. Phys. A 42 (2009), no. 29, 293001, 117 pp.
- [18] I. P. Goulden and D. M. Jackson. The KP hierarchy, branched covers, and triangulations. Adv. Math. 219 (2008), no. 3, 932–951.
- [19] I. P. Goulden, D. M. Jackson, and A. Vainshtein. The number of ramified coverings of the sphere by the torus and surfaces of higher genera. Ann. Comb. 4 (2000), no. 1, 27–46.

¹We would like to thank Yu. Burman for this comment.

- [20] I. P. Goulden, D. M. Jackson, and R. Vakil. The Gromov-Witten potential of a point, Hurwitz numbers, and Hodge integrals. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 83 (2001), no. 3, 563–581.
- [21] M. Guay-Paquet and J. Harnad, 2D Toda τ-functions as combinatorial generating functions. Lett. Math. Phys. 105 (2015), no. 6, 827–852.
- [22] J. Harnad. Weighted Hurwitz numbers and hypergeometric τ-functions: an overview. String-Math 2014, 289–333, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 93, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2016.
- [23] J. Harnad and A. Orlov. Hypergeometric τ -functions, Hurwitz numbers and enumeration of paths. Comm. Math. Phys. 338 (2015), no. 1, 267–284.
- [24] A. Hurwitz, Ueber die Anzahl der Riemann'schen Flächen mit gegebenen Verzweigungspunkten. Math. Ann. 55 (1901), no. 1, 53–66.
- [25] F. Janda. Frobenius manifolds near the discriminant and relations in the tautological ring. Lett. Math. Phys. 108 (2018), no. 7, 1649–1675.
- [26] P. Johnson, Double Hurwitz numbers via the infinite wedge. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 367 (2015), no. 9, 6415–6440.
- [27] M. É. Kazarian and S. K. Lando. Combinatorial solutions to integrable hierarchies. (Russian) Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 70 (2015), no. 3(423), 77–106; translation in Russian Math. Surveys 70 (2015), no. 3, 453–482.
- [28] M. Kazarian and P. Zograf. Virasoro constraints and topological recursion for Grothendiecks dessin counting. Lett. Math. Phys. 105 (2015), no. 8, 1057–1084.
- [29] R. Kramer, D. Lewański, A. Popolitov, and S. Shadrin, Towards an orbifold generalization of Zvonkine's r-ELSV formula. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 372 (2019), no. 6, 4447–4469.
- [30] R. Kramer, D. Lewański, and S. Shadrin, Quasi-polynomiality of monotone orbifold Hurwitz numbers and Grothendieck's dessins d'enfants. Doc. Math. 24 (2019), 857–898.
- [31] S. K. Lando, A. K. Zvonkin, Graphs on surfaces and their applications. With an appendix by Don B. Zagier. Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, 141. Low-Dimensional Topology, II. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- [32] D. Lewanski. On ELSV-type formulae, Hurwitz numbers and topological recursion. Topological recursion and its influence in analysis, geometry, and topology, 517–532, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 100, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2018.
- [33] D. Lewanski, A. Popolitov, S. Shadrin, and D. Zvonkine. Chiodo formulas for the r-th roots and topological recursion. Lett. Math. Phys. 107 (2017), no. 5, 901–919.
- [34] C.-C. M. Liu and M. Mulase. Preface [topological recursion]. Topological recursion and its influence in analysis, geometry, and topology, vii–xxii, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 100, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2018.
- [35] B. Louf. Simple formulas for constellations and bipartite maps with prescribed degrees. arXiv:1904.05371
- [36] I. G. Macdonald. Polynomials associated with finite cell-complexes. Polynomials associated with finite cell-complexes. J. London Math. Soc. (2) 4 (1971), 181–192.
- [37] T. Milanov and D. Lewanski. \mathcal{W} -algebra constraints and topological recursion for A_N -singularity (with an appendix by Danilo Lewanski). Internat. J. Math. 27 (2016), no. 13, 1650110, 21 pp.
- [38] A. Yu. Orlov and D. M. Scherbin. Multivariate hypergeometric functions as τ-functions of Toda lattice and Kadomtsev-Petviashvili equation. Advances in nonlinear mathematics and science. Phys. D 152/153 (2001), 51–65.

B. B.: FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS, NATIONAL RESEARCH UNIVERSITY HIGHER SCHOOL OF ECO-NOMICS, USACHEVA 6, 119048 MOSCOW, RUSSIA; AND DEMIDOV STATE UNIVERSITY, 150003 YAROSLAVL, RUSSIA

E-mail address: bbychkov@hse.ru

P. D.-B.: FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS, NATIONAL RESEARCH UNIVERSITY HIGHER SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS, USACHEVA 6, 119048 MOSCOW, RUSSIA; AND ITEP, 117218 MOSCOW, RUSSIA *E-mail address*: ptdunin@hse.ru

S. S.: Korteweg-de Vries Institute for Mathematics, University of Amsterdam, Postbus 94248, 1090 GE Amsterdam, The Netherlands

E-mail address: S.ShadrinQuva.nl